
   Board of Supervisors   June 5, 2023 Agenda Amended 
6/5/2023 

Russell County Page 1 

RUSSELL COUNTY 
BOARD OF SUPERVISOR’S MEETING 

AGENDA – JUNE 5, 2023 

BOS Board Room    Regular Meeting       6:00 PM 

Russell County Governmental Center 
Lebanon, Virginia 24266 

CALL TO ORDER & ROLL CALL – Clerk of the Board 

EXECUTIVE SESSION (CLOSED) – RC Public Service Authority (PSA) – Legal Matters – Civil 
Action No. CL22-653 Crossroads Engineering LLC vs. The Russell County Public Service 
Authority.  (Executive Session will begin at 5 p.m. and is closed to the general public.  Citizens are welcome to attend and wait in the
boardroom until the Executive Session is complete.)

INVOCATION   

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

PUBLIC HEARING 

1. RC FY 2023/2024 County-Wide Budget

PRESENTATIONS 

1. Dr. Kim Hooker – RC School Superintendent – Annual School Board Report

NEW BUSINESS 

1. Approval of Minutes.  Consider approval of the minutes of the
following meeting of the Russell County Board of Supervisors….……………B-1 



Agenda                        Board of Supervisors         June 5, 2023 
Amended 6/3/2023 

 

Russell County Page 2 
 

 
a. Unapproved minutes of May 1, 2023 
b. Unapproved minutes of May 22, 2023  

 
2. Approval of Expenditures. Consider approval of expenditures presented  

for payment……………………………………………………………………………...B-2 
 

3. Committee Appointments for Board Consideration………………………………B-3 
 

RC Library Board 
 
Yvonne Dye     3-Year Term        June 30, 2023 
Susan Breeding                            3-Year Term June 30, 2023    
 
RC Department of Social Services (DSS) 
 
Brian Ferguson                  4-Year Term               June 30, 2023 
Sharon Owens                    4-Year Term                 June 30, 2023 
 
RC Public Service Authority (PSA) 
 
Thomas Tignor     4-Year Term        June 24, 2023 
 

CITIZEN’S COMMENT PERIOD (Limited to 3 Minutes)  
 
CONSTITUTIONAL OFFICER REPORTS AND REQUESTS 
  
COUNTY ATTORNEY REPORTS AND REQUESTS 

 
COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR REPORTS AND REQUESTS 
 

REPORTS 
 

1. Steve Dye – Russell County Sheriff Retirement..………………………………….D-1 
 

2. DEQ Report - Clinch River CCR Surface Impoundment Pond 1 & Pond 2 –                                                        
Permit #620 & #624………………………………………………………………………D-2 
 

3. Bristol Transportation District Regional Improvement Board…………………..D-3 
 

4. VDOT Monthly Road System Report………..………………………………………..D-4 
 

5. VACO Legislative Summary……………………………………………………………D-5 
 
 
 



Agenda                        Board of Supervisors         June 5, 2023 
Amended 6/3/2023 

 

Russell County Page 3 
 

 
REQUESTS 

  
6. VDOT Resolution to Dismiss Petition for Abandonment of Rte. 871…….…….D-6 

 
7. VDOT Request for Abandonment of Pedestrian Footbridges - FB9000-                            

Route 640 Pedestrian Footbridge over Clinch River; FB9002-Route 723                      
Pedestrian Footbridge over Clinch River…………..…...…………………………..D-7 
 

8. BOS FY 2023/24 County Budget Meeting Date………...……..…………………....D-8 
 

9. Virginia Supreme Court Declaration of State Holiday – July 3rd, 2023…………D-9 
 

10. BOS July 2023 Regular Board Meeting Date………………………………………..D-10 
 

11. CPRWMA Disposal & Solid Waste Transportation Contract………………….…D-11 
 

12. Resolution Supporting Temporary Closure of Route 687 for Bridge                             
Replacement……………………………………………………………………………...D-12 
 

BOARD DISCUSSIONS & REMINDERS  
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
COUNTY AGENCY / BOARD REPORTS: 
        

• Treasurer’s Report ………………………………………………………………………E 
• RC IDA ………...…………………………………………………………………………..F 
• RC PSA …………………………………………………………………………………...G 
• Castlewood W&S ………………………………………………………………………..H 
• RC Tourism………………………………………………………………………………..I 
• RC Planning Commission ……………………………………………………………..J 
• Conference Center………………………………………………………………………K 
• RC Fitness Center……………………………………………………………………….L 
• RC Transportation & Safety…………………………………………………………...M 
• RC Cannery Reports…………………………………………………………………….N 
• RC Building Inspector…………………………………………………………………..O 
• RC Litter Report………………………………………………………………………….P   



CLOSED SESSION 
 

Motion made by , second by and duly approved by the 
Board of Supervisors enter into closed session to discuss Legal Matters pursuant to 
Section 2.2-3711(A)(7)(8) – Legal Discussions concerning RC Public Service Authority 
(PSA) – Civil Action No. CL22-653 Crossroads Engineering LLC vs. The Russell County 
Public Service Authority.  

The vote was: 
Aye:     
Nay:     

CERTIFICATION OF CLOSED SESSION 
 
Pursuant to §2.2-3712 (D) of the Code of Virginia 1950, as amended, each member of the 
Board of Supervisors upon the Roll Call certifies that to the best of their knowledge (i) only 
public business matters lawfully exempted from the open meeting requirements under the 
Virginia Freedom of Information Act and (ii) only such public business matters that were 
identified in the motion(s) by which the closed meeting was convened were heard, 
discussed or considered in the meeting by the Board of Supervisors. 

Any member of the Board of Supervisors who believes that there was a departure from the 
requirements of clauses (i) and (ii) above shall so state prior to the vote, indicating the 
substance of the departure that, in his or her judgment, has taken place. 

Are there any Supervisors who believe a departure has taken place? 

Seeing none, if you agree that the matters heard, discussed, or considered during the 
closed meeting were pursuant only to the motion(s) by which the closed meeting was 
convened, please signify by saying aye or yes. 

Tim Lovelace - 

Lou Ann Wallace - 

Carl Rhea - 

Steve Breeding - 

David Eaton - 

Rebecca Dye - 

Oris Christian - 

APPROVAL TO RETURN TO REGULAR SESSION 

Motion made by , second by and duly approved by 
the Board of Supervisors to return to regular session. 

The vote was: 
Aye:     
Nay:     



Russell County Virginia 
“The Heart of Southwest Virginia” 

Tim Lovelace Steve Breeding 
District 1 District 5 

Carl Rhea  Lou Ann Wallace, Chairperson Rebecca Dye 
District 3  District 2 District 6 

David Eaton   Oris Christian, Vice-Chairman Lonzo Lester 
District 4   At-Large County Administrator 

Russell County Government Center 
137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 

www.russellcountyva.us 

 

 

  

 

 

PUBLIC NOTICE 

The Russell County Board of Supervisors will be holding a Board of 
Supervisors Meeting scheduled for Monday, June 5, 2023, at 6:00 P.M. 
to hear public comments at the Public Hearing concerning the FY 
2023/2024 County-Wide Budget.

The meeting will be held in the Russell County Board of Supervisors 
Board Room at the Russell County Governmental Center, 137 
Highland Drive, Lebanon, Virginia 

BY ORDER OF THE 

RUSSELL COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 



                                                                                                                                                                                                         
Russell County Government Center 

137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 
www.russellcountyva.us 

 
Board of Supervisors   Information Item  

137 Highland Drive                                  Presenters - Various 
Lebanon, VA 24266                    

       Meeting: 6/5/23      6:00 PM 
 

 
Presentations  
 
1.  Dr. Kim Hooker – RC School Superintendent – Annual School Board Report 

 
 

Staff Recommendation: 
 

Presentation – Informational Only. 
 

Suggested Motion: 
 

Board Discretion.  
 

ATTACHMENTS: 
• Various 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
     Board of Supervisors                       Action Item B-1 

137 Highland Drive  Presenter: Chairperson 
Lebanon, VA 24266 

          Meeting: 6/5/23       6:00 PM 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                         
Russell County Government Center 

137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 
www.russellcountyva.us 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Approval of Minutes  

Request approval of the minutes from the following meeting: 

o Unapproved minutes of May 1, 2023 

o Unapproved minutes of May 5, 2023 
  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION(s): 
Board discretion 
 

SUGGESTED MOTION(s): 
Motion to approve Board Minutes. 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• Board Minutes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



May 01, 2023 
 
A regular monthly mee�ng of the Russell County Board of Supervisors was held on Monday, May 01, 
2023 beginning at 5:00 pm with Execu�ve (Closed) Session followed by the regular mee�ng at 6:00 pm 
at the Russell County Government Center in Lebanon, Virginia. 
 
The Clerk called the mee�ng to order. 
 

EXECUTIVE (CLOSED) SESSION 
 
Mo�on made by Steve Breeding, second Oris Chris�an and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
enter into Execu�ve (Closed) Session to discuss legal maters pursuant to Sec�on 2.2-3711(A)(5)(7)(8) – 
Legal Discussions concerning a Proposed Economic Development Project – Moss III and Proposed 
Legisla�ve Ordinance. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye: Steve Breeding, Oris Chris�an, Tim Lovelace, David Eaton, Lou Wallace, Carl Rhea and Rebecca Dye  
Nay:  None 
 

APPROVAL TO RETURN TO REGULAR SESSION 
 

Mo�on made by Steve Breeding, second David Eaton and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
return to regular session. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Steve Breeding, David Eaton, Lou Wallace, Tim Lovelace, Carl Rhea, Rebecca Dye and Oris Chris�an 
Nay:  None  
 

CERTIFICATION OF EXECUTIVE ((CLOSED) SESSION 
 
 Pursuant to § 2.2-3712(D) of the Code of Virginia 1950, as amended each member of the Board of 
Supervisors upon the Roll Call cer�fies that to the best of their knowledge (I) only public business 
maters lawfully exempted from the open mee�ng requirements under the Virginia Freedom of  
Informa�on Act and (ii) only such public business maters that were iden�fied in the mo�on(s) by which 
the closed mee�ng was convened were heard, discussed, or considered in the mee�ng by the Board of 
Supervisors.  
Any member of the Board of Supervisors who believes that there was a departure from the 
requirements of clauses (I) and (ii) above shall so state prior to the vote, indica�ng the substance of the 
departure that, in his or her judgment, has taken place.  
Are there any who believe a departure has taken place? Seeing none, if you agree that the maters 
heard, discussed, or considered during the closed mee�ng were pursuant only to the mo�on(s) by which 
the closed mee�ng was convened, please signify by saying aye or yes. 
 
Roll Call by the Clerk: 
 
AYE:  
 
Tim Lovelace 



Lou Wallace 
Carl Rhea 
David Eaton 
Steve Breeding 
Rebecca Dye 
Oris Chris�an 
 
Nay:  None 
 
Invoca�on by Jacob Musick, followed by the Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag. 
 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
 
Mo�on made by Steve Breeding, second David Eaton and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve the agenda as amended. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye: Steve Breeding, David Eaton, Tim Lovelace, Lou Wallace, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 
 
Acknowledgements 
 

MAY 2023 PROCLAIMED AS OLDER AMERICANS’ MONTH 
 

Mo�on made by Steve Breeding, second Oris Chris�an and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to  
proclaim the month of May 2023 as Older Americans’ Month. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Steve Breeding, Oris Christian, Tim Lovelace, Lou Wallace, Carl Rhea, David Eaton and Rebecca Dye 
Nay:  None 
 

PUBLIC HEARING HELD ON VDOT SECONDARY SIX-YEAR PLAN FY 2023/24 TO FY 2028/29 
 

Pursuant to being adver�sed in a local newspaper for two (2) consecu�ve weeks, a public hearing was 
held on the Virginia Department of Transporta�on Secondary Six-Year Plan FY 2023/24 to FY 2028/29. 
 
The Chair opened the public hearing to comments.  Hearing none, the public hearing was closed. 
 

PUBLIC HEARING HELD ON VDOT RESOLUTION OF THE ABANDONMENT OF RTE. 871 & RTE. 1211 & 
RTE. 19/58 

 
Pursuant to being adver�sed in a local newspaper for two (2) consecu�ve weeks, a public hearing was 
held on the Virginia Department of Transporta�on Abandonment of Rte. 871 & Rte. 1211 & Rte. 19/58. 
 
The Chair opened the public hearing to comments. 
 
The following ci�zens spoke in opposi�on to the abandonment of Rte. 871 including: 
 



Shirley Brown 
Irene Sproles 
Dari Hubbard 
Peggy McGlothlin 
Chris McGlothlin 
 
Mr. Boiling with VDOT addressed the Board concerning this with the board members. 
 
The public hearing was closed. 
 

APPROVAL OF THE VDOT SIX-YEAR PLAN FY 2023/24 TO FY 2028/29 
 
Mo�on made by Tim Lovelace, second Steve Breeding and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve the VDOT Six -Year Plan FY 2023/24 to FY 2028/29. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Tim Lovelace, Steve Breeding, Lou Wallace, Carl Rhea, David Eaton, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 
 

APPROVAL OF THE VDOT RTE. 19/58 ABANDONMENT 
 
Mo�on made by Tim Lovelace, second Steve Breeding and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve the VDOT resolution for the abandonment of discontinued Rte. 19 Right of Way, Hansonville.  
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Tim Lovelace, Steve Breeding, Lou Wallace, Carl Rhea, David Eaton, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 
 

ABANDONMENT OF VDOT RTE. 1211 (TURKEY KNOB) 
 
Mo�on made by Carl Rhea, second Steve Breeding and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve a VDOT Resolution for the abandonment of Rte. 1211 (Turkey Knob). 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Carl Rhea, Steve Breeding, David Eaton, Tim Lovelace, Lou Wallace, Oris Christian and Rebecca Dye 
Nay:  None 
 

OPPOSITION TO THE ABANDONMENT OF VDOT RTE. 871 
 

Motion made by Oris Christian, second David Eaton and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
oppose a VDOT resolution pertaining to  the abandonment of Rte. 871. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Oris Christian, David Eaton, Carl Rhea, Tim Lovelace, Lou Wallace, Steve Breeding and Rebecca Dye 
Nay: None 
 
Presenta�on 
 



Dan Glass, Dante Rescue Squad addressed the board about lowering the age of  their junior squad 
members to 13. 
Ronald Passmore, Director Regula�on & Compliance Enforcement Division Office of Emergency Medical 
Services also addressed the board concerning this request. 
 
New Business 
 

APPROVAL OF THE APRIL 13 & APRIL 11, 2023 MINUTES 
 

Mo�on made by David Eaton, second Oris Chris�an and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve the April 03 and April 11, 2023 minutes and dispense with the reading thereof. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  David Eaton, Oris Christian, Tim Lovelace, Carl Rhea, Lou Wallace, Rebecca Dye and Steve Breeding 
Nay:  None 
 

APPROVAL OF GENERAL COUNTY INVOICES 
 

Motion made by Steve Breeding, second David Eaton and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve general county invoices in the amount of $2,400,620.29, including reoccurring and 
withholdings. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Steve Breeding, David Eaton, Carl Rhea, Tim Lovelace, Lou Wallace, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 
 
Citizens Comment 
 
The Chair opened citizens comment period. 
 
Kelly McBride Delph, Russell County Public Library asked that the board consider appropriating 
additional funds for salaries, supplies, etc. for the library. 
 
Larry Hughes, Lebanon thanked the board for vo�ng no on the abandonment of Rte. 871. 
 
The Chair closed ci�zens’ comment. 
 
Acknowledgement 
 
Deputy Noah Ball was recognized for receiving the American Red Cross Lifesaver Award for pulling a lady 
from a burning home on February 08, 2022. 
 
County Atorney Reports & Requests 
 

APPROVAL OF IDA POLYCAP REVENUE BONDS – BOS MORAL OBLIGATION RESOLUTION 
 
Mo�on made by David Eaton, second Steve Breeding and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve the IDA Polycap Revenue Bonds - Board of Supervisors Moral Obligation Resolution. 



 
The vote was: 
Aye:  David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Tim Lovelace, Carl Rhea, Lou Wallace, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 
 

APPROVAL OF THE HIRING OF SPECIAL COUNSEL FOR THE MOSS III PROJECT 
 
Mo�on made by Steve Breeding, second Carl Rhea and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve the hiring of special counsel for the Moss III Economic Development Project. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Steve Breeding, Carl Rhea, Lou Wallace, David Eaton, Rebecca Dye, Lou Wallace and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 
 
 

APPROVAL OF ADVERTISEMENT OF THE RUSSELL COUNTY OFF ROAD RECREATIONAL VEHICLES 
ORDINANCE 

 
Mo�on made by David Eaton, second by Steve Breeding and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors 
to advertise the Off-Road Recreational Vehicle Ordinance. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Tim Lovelace, Carl Rhea, Lou Wallace, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay: None 
 
County Administrator Reports & Requests 
 

APPROVAL OF ARPA FUNDING FO R THE CPRHA 
 
Moton made by Steve Breeding, second David Eaton and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve the Cumberland Plateau Regional Housing Authority ARPA funding -Concerning Regional 
Housing Need Assessment. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Steve Breeding, David Eaton, Lou Wallace, Tim Lovelace, Carl Rhea, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 
 

EMS RESOLUTION FOR DANTE RESCUE SQUAD’S OPERATIONAL EXEMPTION DENIED 
 
Mo�on made by Steve Breeding, second Oris Chris�an and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
deny a request for an EMS Resolution concerning Dante Rescue Squad’s Operational Exemption. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Steve Breeding, Oris Christian, Lou Wallace, Carl Rhea, David Eaton, Rebecca Dye and Tim Lovelace 
Nay:  None  
 
 

APPROVAL OF THE FY 2024-2025 COMMUNITY SERVICES BOARD CONTRACT 

Steve Breeding
Highlight



Motion made by Tim Lovelace, second Steve Breeding and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve the FY 2024-2025 Community Services Board Contract. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Tim Lovelace, Steve Breeding, Carl Rhea, David Eaton, Lou Wallace, Rebecca Dye and Oris Christian 
Nay:  None 
 

APPROVAL TO TRANSFER A SURPLUS VEHICLE TO THE CLEVELAND FIRE DEPARTMENT 
 

Motion made by Carl Rhea, second Oris Christian and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
transfer a surplus vehicle to the Cleveland Fire Department. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  Carl Rhea, Oris Christian, Steve Breeding, David Eaton, Lou Wallace, Rebecca Dye and Tim Lovelace 
Nay:  None 
 

APPROVAL OF THE ANNUAL COMMUNITY DISPOSAL CONTAINERS/TIPPING FEE WAIVERS 
 
Motion made David Eaton, second Oris Christian and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve the Annual Community Disposal Containers/Tipping Fee Waivers. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  David Eaton, Oris Christian, Tim Lovelace, Carl Rhea, Steve Breeding, Rebecca Dye and Lou Wallace 
Nay:  None 
 
 
The Chair adjourned to reconvene on Monday, May 22, 2023 at 6:00 pm. 
 
 
 
_________________________                            _______________________ 
Clerk of the Board                                                  Chairperson 
 



May 22, 2023 

A reconvened mee�ng of the Russell County Board of Supervisors was held on Monday, May 22, 2023 at 

6:00 pm at the Russell County Government Center in Lebanon, Virginia. 

The Clerk called the mee�ng to order. 

Roll Call by the Clerk: 

Present: 

Tim Lovelace 
Carl Rhea 
David Eaton 
Steve Breeding 
Rebecca Dye 
Oris Chris�an 
Lou Wallace 
 
Lonzo Lester, Clerk 
Vick Porter, Deputy Clerk 
Ka�e Paton, County Atorney 
 
Absent: 
 
None 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 

Mo�on made by David Eaton, second Carl Rhea and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 

approve the agenda as amended. 

The vote was: 
Aye:  David Eaton, Carl Rhea, Steve Breeding, Tim Lovelace, Lou Wallace, Oris Chris�an and Rebecca Dye 
Nay:  None 
 

PUBLIC HEARING HELD ON THE RUSSELL COUNTY ATV ORDINANCE 
 
Pursuant to being adver�sed in a local newspaper for (2) two consecu�ve weeks, a public hearing was 
held on the Russell County Off-Road Recrea�onal Vehicles Ordinance.  The Chair opened the public 
hearing to comments. Hearing none, the public hearing was closed. 
 

APPROVAL OF THE RUSSELL COUNTY ATV ORDINANCE 
 
Mo�on made by David Eaton, second Steve Breeding and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve the Russell County Recrea�onal Vehicle Ordinance as amended. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Carl Rhea, Lou Wallace, Tim Lovelace, Rebecca Dye and Oris Chris�an 
Nay:  None 
 



PUBLIC HEARING HELD ON THE FY 2023/2024 BUDGET 
 
Pursuant to being adver�sed in a local newspaper for (2) two consecu�ve weeks, a public hearing was 
held on the Fy 2023/2024 Budget.  The Chair opened the public hearing to comments. 
 
Kelly M. Delph, represen�ng the Rotary Club and the Russell County Community Orchestra asked that 
the BOS consider a match for a grant that would place outdoor musical instruments in Honaker and 
Lebanon.  Castlewood would be considered later when a suitable loca�on could be found. 
 
The Chair closed the public hearing. 
 
New Business 
 
Budget Workshop 
 
The County Administrator discussed various budget issues with the Board. 
 

 
APPROVAL OF A CSA SUPPLEMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF $53,196.19 

 
Mo�on made by David Eaton, second Steve Breeding and duly approved by the Board of Supervisors to 
approve a CSA Supplement Alloca�on of $53,196.19 as requested. 
 
The vote was: 
Aye:  David Eaton, Steve Breeding, Carl Rhea, Lou Wallace, Tim Lovelace, Rebecca Dye and Oris Chris�an 
Nay:  None 
 
The Chair appointed David Eaton and Steve Breeding to a commitee for the purpose of doing a 
feasibility study on Laurel Bed Lake. 
 
 
The Chair adjourned the mee�ng. 
 
 
 
_______________________          _____________________ 
Clerk of the Board                            Chairperson 
    



 
                                                      Board of Supervisors                         Action Item B-2 

137 Highland Drive Presenter: Chairperson 
Lebanon, VA 24266 

        Meeting: 6/5/23      6:00 PM 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                         
Russell County Government Center 

137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 
www.russellcountyva.us 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Approval of Expenditures 

Request approval of the County’s May 2023 Monthly Expenditures: 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION(s):  
County’s May 2023 Monthly Expenditures are in compliance with budget and operational services. 

 
SUGGESTED MOTION(s): 
Motion to approve County’s May 2023 Monthly Expenditures. 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• May 2023 Monthly Expenditures 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



















 
Board of Supervisors  Action Item:  B-3 

137 Highland Drive Presenter: Chairperson  
Lebanon, VA 24266 

        Meeting: 6/5/23        6:00 PM 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                         
Russell County Government Center 

137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 
www.russellcountyva.us 

 
 
 
 
 

      Board Appointments 
RC Library Board 
 
Yvonne Dye     3-Year Term        June 30, 2023 
Susan Breeding                            3-Year Term        June 30, 2023  
  
 
RC Department of Social Services (DSS) 
 
Brian Ferguson                  4-Year Term               June 30, 2023 
Sharon Owens                    4-Year Term                 June 30, 2023 
 
RC Public Service Authority (PSA) 
 
Thomas Tignor                            4-Year Term        June 24, 2023 
 

 
Staff Recommendation: 
 
Presentation – Informational Only. 
 
Suggested Motion: 
 
Board Discretion.  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Various    

  
 



 

Board of Supervisors  Action Item D-1 – D-12 
137 Highland Drive Presenter: Administrator 
Lebanon, VA 24266 

                     Meeting: 6/5/23         6:00 PM 
 
 

 

County Administrator Reports & Requests 
The County Administrator Reports & Request for June 2023: 
 
REPORTS 

 
1. Steve Dye – Russell County Sheriff Resignation………………………………….D-1 

 
2. DEQ Report - Clinch River CCR Surface Impoundment Pond 1 & Pond 2 –                                                        

Permit #620 & #624………………………………………………………………………D-2 
 

3. Bristol Transportation District Regional Improvement Board…………………..D-3 
 

4. VDOT Monthly Road System Report………..………………………………………..D-4 
 

5. VACO Legislative Summary……………………………………………………………D-5 
 

REQUESTS 
  

6. VDOT Resolution to Dismiss Petition for Abandonment of Rte. 871…….…….D-6 
 

7. VDOT Request for Abandonment of Pedestrian Footbridges - FB9000-                            
Route 640 Pedestrian Footbridge over Clinch River; FB9002-Route 723                      
Pedestrian Footbridge over Clinch River…………..…...…………………………..D-7 

 
8. BOS FY 2023/24 County Budget Meeting Date………...……..…………………....D-8 

 
9. Virginia Supreme Court Declaration of State Holiday – July 3rd, 2023…………D-9 

 
10.   BOS July 2023 Regular Board Meeting Date……………………………………...D-10 

 
11.  CPRWMA Disposal & Solid Waste Transportation Contract……………………D-11 

 
12. Resolution Supporting Temporary Closure of Route 687 for Bridge                             

Replacement……………………………………………………………………………...D-12 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION(s): 
Board Discretion.  

 
SUGGESTED MOTION(s): 
Board Discretion.  
 
 

 
 

Russell County Government Center 
137 Highland Drive · Lebanon, Virginia 24266 · (276) 889-8000 · Fax (276) 889-8011 

www.russellcountyva.us 

http://www.russellcountyva.us/
http://www.russellcountyva.us/


RUSSELL COUNTY SHERIFF’S OFFICE 
 

79 Rogers Avenue                                                                     Phone (276) 889-8033 

Lebanon, VA 24266              sheriff@russellcountyva.us           Fax: (276) 889-8203 

 
                                                       Steve Dye, Sheriff 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

May 31, 2023 

 

The Honorable Michael L. Moore 

Circuit Court Judge 

Russell County Courthouse 

Lebanon, Virginia 24266 

 

Your Honor, 

 

The purpose of this letter is to inform you that I will be retiring from my position 

as Sheriff of Russell County at the end of the day, June 30, 2023. 

 

It has been an honor to serve the citizens of Russell County for the past 36 years 

and 8 months. I thank God for every day that he has allowed me to be a member of 

the Russell County Sheriff’s Office. 

 

I have spoken with my Chief Deputy, Bill Watson, who is aware of the provisions 

set forth in the Code of Virginia and is willing and capable of assuming the 

position as Sheriff of Russell County, Virginia in order to finish out my term. 

 

Thank you for your consideration. 

 

Sincerely yours, 

 
Steve Dye 

Sheriff 

 

 

SLD/rco 



Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight





















Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight























 Bristol Transportation District Regional Improvement Comm

 Balance Sheet
 As of April 30, 2023

Apr 30, 23

ASSETS

Current Assets

Checking/Savings

First Sentinel Bank - 101000417 6,269,336.95

Total Checking/Savings 6,269,336.95

Total Current Assets 6,269,336.95
TOTAL ASSETS 6,269,336.95

LIABILITIES & EQUITY

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable 950.00

Total Accounts Payable 950.00

Total Current Liabilities 950.00

Total Liabilities 950.00

Equity

Net Income 6,268,386.95

Total Equity 6,268,386.95
TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 6,269,336.95

These financial statements have not been subjected to an audit, review or compilation
engagement and no assurance is provided on them. Substantially all disclosures required by the

accrual basis of accounting omitted.

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight



 Bristol Transportation District Regional Improvement Comm

 Profit & Loss
 July 2022 through April 2023

Jul '22 - Apr 23

Ordinary Income/Expense

Income

Direct Public Support

State Contributions 6,210,360.87

Total Direct Public Support 6,210,360.87

Investments

Interest-Savings, Short-term CD 60,451.08

Total Investments 60,451.08

Total Income 6,270,811.95

Expense

Contract Services

Accounting Fees 950.00

Total Contract Services 950.00

Other Types of Expenses

Insurance - Liability, D and O 1,475.00

Total Other Types of Expenses 1,475.00

Total Expense 2,425.00

Net Ordinary Income 6,268,386.95
Net Income 6,268,386.95

These financial statements have not been subjected to an audit, review or compilation
engagement and no assurance is provided on them. Substantially all disclosures required by the

accrual basis of accounting omitted.

Steve Breeding
Highlight



Type Date Num Adj Name Memo Split Debit Credit Balance

First Sentinel Bank - 101000417 0.00
Deposit 10/24/2022 Deposit State Contributi... 1,559,811.48 1,559,811.48
Deposit 10/31/2022 Interest Interest-Saving... 822.64 1,560,634.12
Deposit 11/30/2022 Interest Interest-Saving... 3,527.46 1,564,161.58
Deposit 12/31/2022 Interest Interest-Saving... 4,563.92 1,568,725.50
Deposit 01/17/2023 Deposit State Contributi... 2,465,981.88 4,034,707.38
Bill Pmt -Check 01/30/2023 10000 VAcorp Annual Cover... Accounts Paya... 1,475.00 4,033,232.38
Deposit 01/31/2023 Interest Interest-Saving... 9,112.79 4,042,345.17
Deposit 02/28/2023 Interest Interest-Saving... 12,405.85 4,054,751.02
Deposit 03/31/2023 Interest Interest-Saving... 14,025.00 4,068,776.02
Deposit 04/21/2023 Deposit State Contributi... 2,184,567.51 6,253,343.53
Deposit 04/30/2023 Interest Interest-Saving... 15,993.42 6,269,336.95

Total First Sentinel Bank - 101000417 6,270,811.95 1,475.00 6,269,336.95

Furniture and Equipment 0.00
Total Furniture and Equipment 0.00

Marketable Securities 0.00
Total Marketable Securities 0.00

Other Assets 0.00
Total Other Assets 0.00

Security Deposits Asset 0.00
Total Security Deposits Asset 0.00

Accounts Payable 0.00
Bill 12/05/2022 104908 VAcorp Annual Cover... Insurance - Lia... 1,475.00 -1,475.00
Bill Pmt -Check 01/30/2023 10000 VAcorp Annual Cover... First Sentinel B... 1,475.00 0.00
Bill 02/02/2023 20231... Hicok, Brown & Com... Accounting Se... Accounting Fees 850.00 -850.00
Bill 03/01/2023 20231... Hicok, Brown & Com... February Acc... Accounting Fees 100.00 -950.00

Total Accounts Payable 1,475.00 2,425.00 -950.00

Payroll Liabilities 0.00
Total Payroll Liabilities 0.00

Other Liabilities 0.00
Total Other Liabilities 0.00

Fund Balance 0.00
Total Fund Balance 0.00

Opening Balance Equity 0.00
Total Opening Balance Equity 0.00

Direct Public Support 0.00
Gifts in Kind - Goods 0.00
Total Gifts in Kind - Goods 0.00

Individ, Business Contributions 0.00
Total Individ, Business Contributions 0.00

State Contributions 0.00
Deposit 10/24/2022 24430... Commonwealth of Vi... Virginia Lottery First Sentinel B... 1,559,811.48 -1,559,811.48
Deposit 01/17/2023 24622... Commonwealth of Vi... Virginia Lottery First Sentinel B... 2,465,981.88 -4,025,793.36
Deposit 04/21/2023 Commonwealth of Vi... 2022-2023 Q3 First Sentinel B... 2,184,567.51 -6,210,360.87

Total State Contributions 0.00 6,210,360.87 -6,210,360.87

Direct Public Support - Other 0.00
Total Direct Public Support - Other 0.00

Total Direct Public Support 0.00 6,210,360.87 -6,210,360.87

Indirect Public Support 0.00
Other Contributions 0.00
Total Other Contributions 0.00

Indirect Public Support - Other 0.00
Total Indirect Public Support - Other 0.00

Total Indirect Public Support 0.00

Investments 0.00
Interest-Savings, Short-term CD 0.00
Deposit 10/31/2022 Interest First Sentinel B... 822.64 -822.64
Deposit 11/30/2022 Interest First Sentinel B... 3,527.46 -4,350.10
Deposit 12/31/2022 Interest First Sentinel B... 4,563.92 -8,914.02
Deposit 01/31/2023 Interest First Sentinel B... 9,112.79 -18,026.81
Deposit 02/28/2023 Interest First Sentinel B... 12,405.85 -30,432.66
Deposit 03/31/2023 Interest First Sentinel B... 14,025.00 -44,457.66
Deposit 04/30/2023 Interest First Sentinel B... 15,993.42 -60,451.08

Total Interest-Savings, Short-term CD 0.00 60,451.08 -60,451.08

Investments - Other 0.00
Total Investments - Other 0.00

Total Investments 0.00 60,451.08 -60,451.08

1:07 PM Bristol Transportation District Regional Improvement Comm
05/15/23 General Ledger
Accrual Basis As of April 30, 2023

Page 1

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight



Type Date Num Adj Name Memo Split Debit Credit Balance

Other Types of Income 0.00
Miscellaneous Revenue 0.00
Total Miscellaneous Revenue 0.00

Other Types of Income - Other 0.00
Total Other Types of Income - Other 0.00

Total Other Types of Income 0.00

Program Income 0.00
Membership Dues 0.00
Total Membership Dues 0.00

Program Service Fees 0.00
Total Program Service Fees 0.00

Program Income - Other 0.00
Total Program Income - Other 0.00

Total Program Income 0.00

Business Expenses 0.00
Business Registration Fees 0.00
Total Business Registration Fees 0.00

Business Expenses - Other 0.00
Total Business Expenses - Other 0.00

Total Business Expenses 0.00

Contract Services 0.00
Accounting Fees 0.00
Bill 02/02/2023 20231... Hicok, Brown & Com... Accounting Se... Accounts Paya... 850.00 850.00
Bill 03/01/2023 20231... Hicok, Brown & Com... February Acc... Accounts Paya... 100.00 950.00

Total Accounting Fees 950.00 0.00 950.00

Legal Fees 0.00
Total Legal Fees 0.00

Outside Contract Services 0.00
Total Outside Contract Services 0.00

Contract Services - Other 0.00
Total Contract Services - Other 0.00

Total Contract Services 950.00 0.00 950.00

Facilities and Equipment 0.00
Depr and Amort - Allowable 0.00
Total Depr and Amort - Allowable 0.00

Donated Facilities 0.00
Total Donated Facilities 0.00

Equip Rental and Maintenance 0.00
Total Equip Rental and Maintenance 0.00

Property Insurance 0.00
Total Property Insurance 0.00

Rent, Parking, Utilities 0.00
Total Rent, Parking, Utilities 0.00

Facilities and Equipment - Other 0.00
Total Facilities and Equipment - Other 0.00

Total Facilities and Equipment 0.00

Operations 0.00
Books, Subscriptions, Reference 0.00
Total Books, Subscriptions, Reference 0.00

Postage, Mailing Service 0.00
Total Postage, Mailing Service 0.00

Printing and Copying 0.00
Total Printing and Copying 0.00

Supplies 0.00
Total Supplies 0.00

Telephone, Telecommunications 0.00
Total Telephone, Telecommunications 0.00

Operations - Other 0.00
Total Operations - Other 0.00

Total Operations 0.00

Other Types of Expenses 0.00
Insurance - Liability, D and O 0.00
Bill 12/05/2022 104908 VAcorp Annual Cover... Accounts Paya... 1,475.00 1,475.00

Total Insurance - Liability, D and O 1,475.00 0.00 1,475.00

1:07 PM Bristol Transportation District Regional Improvement Comm
05/15/23 General Ledger
Accrual Basis As of April 30, 2023

Page 2



Type Date Num Adj Name Memo Split Debit Credit Balance

Other Costs 0.00
Total Other Costs 0.00

Other Types of Expenses - Other 0.00
Total Other Types of Expenses - Other 0.00

Total Other Types of Expenses 1,475.00 0.00 1,475.00

Payroll Expenses 0.00
Total Payroll Expenses 0.00

Travel and Meetings 0.00
Conference, Convention, Meeting 0.00
Total Conference, Convention, Meeting 0.00

Travel 0.00
Total Travel 0.00

Travel and Meetings - Other 0.00
Total Travel and Meetings - Other 0.00

Total Travel and Meetings 0.00

Ask My Accountant 0.00
Total Ask My Accountant 0.00

No accnt 0.00
Total no accnt 0.00

TOTAL 6,274,711.95 6,274,711.95 0.00

1:07 PM Bristol Transportation District Regional Improvement Comm
05/15/23 General Ledger
Accrual Basis As of April 30, 2023

Page 3



33.
2-9

09 
ABANDON DISMISSAL

The Board of Supervisors of Russell County, in regular meeting on the 5th 
day of June 2023, adopted the following:

RESOLUTION TO DISMISS PETITION FOR 
ABANDONMENT OF SECONDARY ROUTE 871

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors received a petition for abandonment 
of Route 871 from the secondary system of state highways, and

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held to receive comments concerning the 
abandonment of Route 871 from the secondary system of state highways, 
and

WHEREAS, after considering all evidence available, this Board is NOT 
satisfied that no public necessity exists for the continuance of the section of 
Secondary Route 871 from Route 722 to Dead End, a distance of 0.39 miles, 
and hereby deems that section of road is necessary as a part of the Secondary 
System of State Highways, and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, this Board dismisses the 
petition for abandonment of the above-described section of road, which shall 
remain in the secondary system of state highways, pursuant to §33.2-909, 
Code of Virginia; and

BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED that a certified copy of this resolution be 
forwarded to the Resident Administrator of the Virginia Department of 
Transportation.

Recorded Vote    A Copy Teste:
Moved By:  _________________________
Seconded By:  ______________________
Yeas:  ____________________________      _______________________
Nays: _____________________________ (Name), (Title)

Steve Breeding
Highlight



 

 

 

 

 

Russell County BOS 

VDOT Update  
June 5, 2023 

Board Action Requests 

VDOT is seeking Board action one item in the form of a resolution, which is a resolution to dismiss the proposed 

abandonment of Route 871.  This resolution is required pursuant to §33.2-909. 

The residency sent a request for abandonment of Route 806 & a portion of Route 626 on 30 March 2023, & a 

request for abandonment of Footbridge #9000 & Footbridge #9002 on 23 May 2023.  The residency has received 

no response from the Board on either request. 

Maintenance Activities - Completed   
 

Maintenance crews are actively involved in a variety of activities including: 

 Maintenance work (spreading gravel, blading) was conducted on routes 620, 622 and 636. 

 Crews removed multiple trees due to recent storms that came through the county during the month. This 

was on all Primary and Secondary routes. 

 Shoulder repairs are scheduled for completion the week of May 29th on route 647 (Campbell Hollow 

Road).     

 Roadside mowing operations for the season have begun with primaries routes being complete and crews 

are now mowing secondary routes. 

 

Maintenance Activities - Planned 

• Slope stabilization / slide repair on Route 621.  This work as a ‘time of year’ restriction on it which 

prevents work from being done during certain months due to environmental concerns.   

• Boom ax work on various routes throughout the County.  

• Pothole patching on routes throughout the County as weather and workload allow.  

• Slide repair on Routes 622 and 624. 

• Pavement Repairs (machine patching ) on Route 615 
 

• Debris removal on various routes (down trees and rocks/slides). 
 

• Removal of dead trees on Routes 80 (Hayter's Gap), 71, and 65. 
 

• 618 Rabbit Ridge - Grader patch paved section latter this summer. 
 

• Pipe replacement at various locations throughout the County beginning after new fiscal year begins.  
 

• Ditching at various locations through the County.  
 

• Streambank stabilization on Routes 613 (Moccasin Valley) and 661 (Artrip) 
 

Steve Breeding
Highlight



 

 

 

• Drainage / slope stabilization in the median of Route 19 (Bypass) near Coal Tipple Hollow. 

Rural Rustic / 6 Year Plan Proiects 

Work on Blanch Davis Road (Route 606) has been completed with the exception of paving, which is planned for 

the 2023 paving season. 

North Cedar Acres is a small project (adding approximately 370 feet) of road utilizing residual funding from 

previously completed projects and is proposed for completion as weather allows, with paving proposed for the 

spring of 2023. 

 

Partial funding is in place for work on an approximate one mile segment of Route 678 (Upper Copper Creek) with 

the balance of funding available after July 1st. Work is anticipated to begin on this project later this summer. 

 

Non — VDOT Projects 

Pure Salmon Proiect 

No new information to report this month, a recent site visit indicated progress continues on the construction of the 

connection to Route 19. The residency understands overhead utility relocation is underway which will allow final 

excavation to be completed to make the connection to Route 19.   

 

Three Rivers Destination Center 

No new activity this month on this project. 

2023 Resurfacing 

The following routes will be resurfaced (asphalt overlay) during the 2023 paving season: 

 

Route 80:    Intersection with Route 67 for a distance 0.4 miles south of Route 67 

Route 611:  Intersection with Route 609 to intersection with Route 685. 

Route 622:  Buchanan County to intersection with Route 624 

Route 624:  Buchanan County to 0.2 miles south of intersection with Route 843 

Route 646:  Intersection with Route 637 for a distance 0.8 miles south of Route 637 

Route 678:  Intersection with Route 680 for a distance 1.1 miles east of Route 680 

Route 732:  Intersection with Route 615 to dead end 

Route 740:  Intersection with Route 640 to intersection with Route 645 

Route 845:  0.35 mile loop off Alternate Route 58 

Route 1201: Intersection with Route 82 to dead end 

Route 1202: Intersection with Route 1206 to intersection with Route 82 

Route 1203: Intersection with Route 1206 to intersection with Route 82 

Route 1203: Intersection with Route 82 to intersection with Route 1205 

Route 1204: Intersection with Route 1206 to Route intersection with Route 1205 

Route 1205: Intersection with Route 696 to intersection with Route 1204 

Route 1206: Intersection with Route 1202 to intersection with Route 1204 

Route 1207: Intersection with Route 1208 to intersection with Route 1206 

Route 1208: Intersection with Route 1207 to dead end  

The following routes will be resurfaced (latex overlay) during the 2023 paving season: 

Route  603:  Intersection with Route 643 to Tazewell County line 

Route  640:  Intersection with Route 740 for a distance of 2.5 miles 

Route  662:  Intersection with Route 82 to intersection with Route 740 



 

 

 

Route  666:  Intersection with Route 628 to intersection with Route 615 
Route  764:  Intersection with Route 19 to dead end 

Route  782:  Intersection with Route 19 to dead end 

Route  821:  Intersection with Route 66o to dead end 

Route  854:  Intersection with Route 764 to dead end 

Route  878:  Intersection with Route 873 to dead end 

Route  904:  Intersection with Route 19 to dead end 

Route  906:  Intersection with Route 904 to dead end 

Route  911:  Intersection with Route 883 to dead end 

Route  919:  Intersection with Route 883 to dead end 

Route  929:  Intersection with Route 904 to intersection with Route 904 

Route  998:  Intersection with Route 99 to Haber Drive 

Route  999:  Intersection with Route 998 to dead end 

Route 1060: Intersection with Route 19 to dead end 

Route 1061: Intersection with Route 1060 to dead end 

 

Residency staff stand ready to respond to inquiries and provide explanations but also offer the 1800-FOR-ROAD 

call to enter work order requests into VDOT's tracking system. 



5/29/23, 9:14 AM Russell County Mail - REQUEST FOR ABANDONMENT-FB9000 & FB9002

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=28e834d897&view=pt&search=all&permthid=thread-f:1766694908670539556%7Cmsg-f:1766694908670539556… 1/1

Lonzo Lester <lonzo.lester@russellcountyva.us>

REQUEST FOR ABANDONMENT-FB9000 & FB9002
1 message

Bolling, John (VDOT) <John.Bolling@vdot.virginia.gov> Tue, May 23, 2023 at 10:19 AM
To: "Lester, Lonzo" <lonzo.lester@russellcountyva.us>, David Eaton <david.eaton@russellcountyva.us>
Cc: "Counts, William (VDOT)" <William.Counts@vdot.virginia.gov>, "Buchanan, Jeff (VDOT)"
<Jeff.Buchanan@vdot.virginia.gov>, "Bechtold, John (VDOT)" <John.Bechtold@vdot.virginia.gov>, "Owens, William (VDOT)"
<William.Owens@vdot.virginia.gov>, "Hurt, Robert (VDOT)" <Robert.Hurt@vdot.virginia.gov>

Mr. Lester & Mr. Eaton:

 

Please find the attached request for abandonment of the following pedestrian footbridges in
Russell County:

FB9000:  Route 640 (Clifton Farms Rd) footbridge over Clinch River
FB9002:  Route 723 (Arnold Rd) footbridge over Clinch River

 

If you have questions or need to discuss, please contact me.

 

 

 

John Bolling

Land Development Engineer/Lebanon Residency

Virginia Department of Transportation 

276-889-7601 Office | 276-623-7199 Mobile

john.bolling@VDOT.Virginia.gov

 

 

83_FB9000_FB9002 ABANDON REQ 05-23-2023.pdf
2351K

mailto:john.bolling@VDOT.Virginia.gov
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=28e834d897&view=att&th=18848fa8b9cc7724&attid=0.1&disp=attd&safe=1&zw
Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight



 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
  DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

 2111 BONHAM ROAD 

BRISTOL, VIRGINIA  24201-2002 

      Stephen C. Brich, P. E.                                                                                                                     
        COMMISSIONER 
                                                             

VirginiaDOT.org 

WE KEEP VIRGINIA MOVING 

 

May 23, 2023 

 

Russell County Board of Supervisors 

Attn.:  Mr. Lonzo Lester, County Administrator 

137 Highland Dr. 

Lebanon, VA 24266 

lonzo.lester@russellcountyva.us 

 

RE: Request for Abandonment of Pedestrian Footbridges 

 FB9000-Route 640 pedestrian footbridge over Clinch River 

 FB9002-Route 723 pedestrian footbridge over Clinch River  

 

Mr. Lester: 

 

At present there are three pedestrian footbridges in Russell County that are included in the VDOT 

maintained Secondary System of State Highways.  They are as follows (maps attached): 

1. Footbridge #9000:  pedestrian bridge over Clinch River located on Route 640 (Clifton Farms Rd) 

approximately 1.15 miles east of Route 80.  The bridge spans the river between Route 640 and 

Route 641 (Cedar Cliff Rd). 

2. Footbridge #9001:  pedestrian bridge over Clinch River located on Route 661 (Artrip Rd) 

approximately 1.10 miles east of Route 663.  The bridge spans the river between Route 661 and 

Tax Parcel #106L1037 (Barry & Willard Jessee). 

3. Footbridge #9002:  pedestrian bridge over Clinch River located on Route 723 (Arnold Rd) 

approximately 0.10 mile east of Route 653.  The bridge spans the river between Route 723 and Tax 

Parcel #77R3206 (Clercy Amalene Hess). 

 

Of the three footbridges, only FB9001 is currently functional and open to public use.  FB9001 constitutes 

the only legal access to a public road for one property owner and cannot be abandoned.  It is to remain in 

the Secondary System and maintained by VDOT.   

 

FB9000 (circa 2020) and FB9002 (circa 2017) were closed to public use due to safety concerns and general 

lack of use by the public.  Neither FB9000 nor FB9002 are required to provide legal access for any 

properties and do not provide a transportation need.  All properties served by FB9000 have vehicular access 

via either Route 640 (Clifton Farms Rd) or Route 641 (Cedar Cliff Rd).  All properties served by FB9002 

have vehicular access via either Route 723 (Arnold Rd) or Route 953 (Creekwood Rd). 

 

The Virginia Department of Transportation requests that the Russell County Board of Supervisors abandon 

FB9000 & FB9002 from the Secondary System of State Highways, pursuant to §33.2-909 of the Code of 

Virginia, for the following reasons: 

1. VDOT has taken the position that footbridges will no longer be maintained if they do not provide 

a transportation need.  Due to the expansion of the Secondary System over the years since VDOT 

footbridges were first constructed, most have become obsolete and no longer provide a necessary 

public benefit.  With state maintained secondary roads (vehicular access) on each side of the river 

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight



  

 

accessing all abutting properties, FB9000 & FB9002 no longer provide any type of transportation 

need and will not be maintained by VDOT going forward. 

a. Additionally, FB9002 provides access to one property on the south side of the Clinch River 

(#77R3206:  Clercy Amalene Hess).  VDOT contacted Mrs. Hess to discuss the 

abandonment.  Upon speaking to her, she has indicated that she supports abandonment of 

FB9002 and will not request a public hearing be held by the BOS. 

2. Due to the way VDOT is required to maintain footbridges, they are generally not eligible for the 

historic register.  Oft times, public opposition to abandonment of footbridges is based on the 

public’s perception of the footbridges as having historic and nostalgic value.  However, VDOT is 

required to upgrade footbridges to current approved materials and specifications every time a 

footbridge is maintained or reconstructed, thus negating their eligibility to be registered as official 

historic sites. 

3. The ratio between maintenance costs and public benefit is heavily skewed toward maintenance 

costs, and the Lebanon Residency feels that these maintenance funds should be used on roadways 

and structures that provide a greater degree of public service and benefit for the citizenry of Russell 

County.   

4. By remaining in the public domain, FB9000 & FB9002 pose a liability risk for VDOT that is 

unnecessary and unwarranted.  As these two footbridges will remain closed to public use and will 

not be maintained going forward, the logical step is to remove them from the public domain 

completely and eliminate the liability risk. 

 

Please note that abandonment of the footbridges may be done individually or grouped together.  The choice 

is the county’s.  Discontinuance of the footbridges, pursuant to §33.2-908 of the Code of Virginia, is also 

an option should the Board desire to assume maintenance of and/or responsibility for FB9000 & FB9002. 

 

Please take this matter up with the Board members and advise the Residency as to how the county would 

like to proceed.  If you have any questions or need additional information, please contact the Lebanon 

Residency. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 

John Bolling 

Land Development Engineer 

VDOT Lebanon Residency 

P.O. Box 127 

Lebanon, VA 24266 

276-889-7601 Office | 276-623-7199 Mobile 

john.bolling@vdot.virginia.gov 

 

Cc: Mr. John Bechtold, VDOT Structure & Bridge Engineer 

 Mr. David Eaton, Russell County Board of Supervisors 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight



  

 

 

 
 

 



  

 

 



ABANDONMENT v. DISCONTINUANCE OF VDOT SECONDARY ROUTES

§33.2-909 SECONDARY ABANDONMENT:
1. A county governing body, on its own motion, or upon petition by any interested 

landowner can initiate the §33.2-909 abandonment of a Secondary road or segment that 
is deemed to no longer be necessary for the uses of the highway system.

a. NOTE:  VDOT, as owner right of ways & maintenance facilities within the county, 
is an interested landowner within the county. 

2. Section 33.2-909 is used when an existing VDOT Secondary road is being abandoned 
and there is no corresponding replacement road being constructed.  This type of 
abandonment most commonly occurs when a Secondary road no longer meets Public 
Service Requirements to be in the state system.

3. The effect of legally abandoning a road removes it from VDOT’s inventory and VDOT will 
no longer maintain the road.  The road is closed to public use and is no longer 
considered a public thoroughfare. Essentially, abandoned public roads become private 
streets over which neither VDOT nor the locality have administrative authority or 
maintenance responsibility.  Once a road has been abandoned, it cannot be re-
added to the Secondary system.

4. The abandonment of a prescriptive easement road eliminates the easement.  As a result 
of the abandonment, the road ceases to be a public road and full control of the land 
reverts to the underlying fee simple property owner.

5. Abandonment of roads with right-of-way (ROW) owned by the county or VDOT has the 
effect of closing the road to public use, and the related ROW can then be conveyed to 
the locality (for ROW owned by VDOT) or to an abutting landowner (for ROW owned by 
the county and/or VDOT) upon request. 

6. Abandonment of Secondary routes pursuant to §33.2-909 has mandatory public 
notification requirements that are to be administered by the locality.

a. Notice of Intent to Abandon resolution from the BOS or letter from the county 
administrator to the Commissioner of Transportation.

b. Publication of a Public Hearing Willingness or Public Hearing Notice
i. If a public hearing is requested by an abutting landowner or if the locality 

chooses to have a public hearing without a request, the locality shall 
conduct the public hearing and provide VDOT a written transcript of all 
public comments received.  VDOT staff will be available to provide any 
assistance the county may need.

c. Within 4 months of the expiration of the Public Hearing Willingness period or 
within 4 months from the date of the public hearing, the locality shall pass a 
resolution to either order the abandonment or dismiss the petition for 
abandonment.

7. Upon receipt of the BOS resolution, local VDOT staff will prepare the necessary 
documentation and forward same to VDOT’s Office of Land Use for final processing and 
approval.

§33.2-908 SECONDARY DISCONTINUANCE:

Steve Breeding
Highlight



1. A §33.2-908.B Secondary discontinuance can be initiated upon a petition from the local 
governing body of a county or town.  The Commonwealth Transportation Board (CTB) 
can also initiate this type of discontinue when it deems that the road is no longer 
required for public convenience.  A locality cannot discontinue a VDOT roadway. 

2. Discontinuance of Secondary Routes pursuant to §33.2-908 of the Code of VA is an act 
reserved for the CTB whereby VDOT is relieved of the maintenance responsibility and 
jurisdictional authority for a roadway.  

3. A discontinuance takes place when the CTB determines that the roadway no longer 
provides sufficient public benefit to warrant VDOT maintenance, but the related ROW 
should or must be retained for access or other transportation related purposes.  

4. When a §33.2-908 Secondary discontinuance is completed, the road remains open to 
public use, and the road’s jurisdictional authority is returned to the locality.  

a. NOTE:  Only the jurisdictional authority is transferred to the county.  The county 
has no legal obligation to construct, maintain, or otherwise improve discontinued 
roadways unless agreed to before the road is discontinued. (See §15.2-2265 & 
§15.2-2268 Code of VA).

5. In the case of prescriptive easement roads, the easement is transferred from VDOT’s to 
the locality’s control.

6. In the case of deeded ROW, jurisdictional authority over the ROW is transferred to the 
county.  RW deeded to the Commonwealth remains vested with the Commonwealth but 
can be transferred to locality ownership upon request.

7. Discontinued roads are eligible to be re-added to the Secondary system provided that 
they re-attain a level of service to warrant maintenance and are constructed to VDOT’s 
current minimum standards for secondary street additions at the time the street is re-
added.

8. Discontinuance of Secondary routes pursuant to §33.2-908 has mandatory public 
notification requirements that are to be administered by VDOT

a. Certified letters to the BOS and abutting landowners providing notice of the 
proposed discontinuance and an opportunity to request a public hearing.

b. Publication of the Notice of Intent to Discontinue in a local newspaper
c. If a public hearing is requested, VDOT will conduct a public hearing and provide 

the BOS a written transcript of all comments received.
d. BOS provides a letter or resolution of support or non-support to VDOT for the 

discontinuance.  VDOT staff typically hold the public hearing 1-2 weeks prior to 
the regularly scheduled BOS monthly meeting so that public comments may be 
considered by the BOS prior to the resolution.

e. Local VDOT staff will prepare the necessary documentation and forward to 
VDOT’s Office of Land Use to have the item placed on the CTB agenda.

f. Within 4 months of the expiration of the Public Hearing Willingness period or 
within 4 months from the date of the public hearing (if one is requested), the CTB 
shall pass a resolution to either order the discontinuance or dismiss the petition 
for discontinuance.



Waste Management Contract with Cumberland Plateau RWMA  
Page 1 of 10

Disposal Contract 

THIS CONTRACT, made and entered into this ___day of June, 2023, by and between the CUMBERLAND 
PLATEAU REGIONAL WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY, an authority created under the 
provisions of the Virginia Water and Sewer Authorities Act, (hereinafter called the “Authority”)  
represented herewith by its duly appointed Chairman of the Board of Directors, Ronald Peters, and ECO-SAFE 
SYSTEMS, LLC, a Tennessee company and subsidiary of WASTE MANAGEMENT INC., a Delaware 
Corporation, duly authorized to conduct business in the Commonwealth of Virginia and the State of Tennessee 
(hereinafter called “Contractor”), herein represented by Steven Clark, Senior District Manager, Waste 
Management, its duly qualified and acting Agent.

WITNESSED, THAT in consideration of the covenants and agreements herein contained, to be performed by 
the parties hereto and of the payments hereinafter agreed to be made, it is mutually agreed as follows:

1.   The Contractor is hereby granted exclusive rights for the disposal of solid waste generated within the 
Authority’s three (3) transfer stations – Buchanan, Dickenson, and Russell, in accordance with all 
applicable Federal, State, and local laws and regulations during term of this Contract.

2. The Contract Documents shall include the following documents, incorporated and referenced herein as 
follows: 

a. Exhibit A - General Specifications
b. Exhibit B - Insurance Requirements
c. Exhibit C - Contractor’s Proposal/Pricing
d. Exhibit D - Contractor’s Letter of Credit
e. This Instrument
f. Any addenda or changes to the foregoing documents agreed to by the parties hereto.

3. All provisions of the Contract Documents shall be strictly complied with and conformed to by the 
Contractor, and no amendment to this Contract shall be made except upon written consent of the parties.  
No amendment shall be construed to release either party from any obligation of the Contract Documents 
except as specifically provided for in such amendment.

4. The initial term if this Contract shall be from October 27, 2023 (the “Effective Date”) until October 27, 
2026.  Upon mutual agreement between the parties the Contract may be extended an additional two (2) 
years under the same terms and conditions. It is understood that both parties must agree, with written 
notification, of this extension at least sixty (60) days prior to the expiration date as defined herein. 
Disposal rates for the two-year extension shall be as detailed in Exhibit C for years 4 and 5. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Agreement.

Cumberland Plateau Regional Waste Management Authority 

BY: ________________________________
Ronald P, CPRWMA Chairman

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA,
COUNTY OF __________________, to-wit:

The foregoing deed was signed, sworn and acknowledged before me by ______________________, on this 
______ day of _________, 2023.

My commission expires:  ____________________________.

______________________________________
                    NOTARY PUBLIC

Waste Management, Inc.

BY: ________________________________
Steven Clark, Senior District Manager, Waste Management

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA,
COUNTY OF __________________, to-wit:

The foregoing deed was signed, sworn and acknowledged before me by ______________________, on this 
______ day of _________, 2023.

My commission expires:  ____________________________.

______________________________________
                    NOTARY PUBLIC

Steve Breeding
Highlight



Waste Management Contract with Cumberland Plateau RWMA  
Page 2 of 10

EXHIBIT A
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS - INDEX

  1.0 DEFINITIONS OF ITEMS INCLUDED IN THIS CONTRACT
1.1 Authority
1.2 Disposal Site
1.3 Solid Waste

  2.0   DEFINITIONS OF ITEMS EXCLUDED FROM THIS CONTRACT
2.1 Hazardous Waste
2.2 Offal Waste
2.3 Special Waste

  3.0   SCOPE OF WORK
3.1 General
3.2 Work Not Covered By Contract

4.0  GENERAL PROVISIONS
4.1 Hours of Operation
4.2 Holidays
4.3 Office
4.4 Disposal
4.5 Delivery 
4.6 Point of Contact

5.0  BASIS OF PRICES AND METHOD OF PAYMENT
5.1 Disposal Rates (Exhibits C)
5.2 Additional Costs and Charges
5.3 Modification to Rates 
5.4 Contractor Billings to Authority 

6.0  COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

7.0  RISK ALLOCATION AND INDEMNITY

8.0  LICENSES AND TAXES

9.0  FORCE MAJEURE

10.0 ASSIGNMENT OF CONTRACT

11.0 TITLE TO WASTE 

12.0 TERMINATION OF CONTRACT 

13.0  MISCELLANEOUS TERMS



Waste Management Contract with Cumberland Plateau RWMA  
Page 3 of 10

EXHIBIT A
GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS

1.0 DEFINITIONS OF ITEMS INCLUDED IN THIS CONTRACT

1.1 Authority, CUMBERLAND PLATEAU REGIONAL WASTE MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY  
The geographical area comprised of all of the incorporated and unincorporated areas within each of 
the Counties which is a Member of the Authority - Buchanan, Dickenson, and Russell Counties and 
any County within the State of Virginia adjacent to (having a common boundary with) any Member 
that may enter into an agreement with the Authority after the date hereof relating to such adjacent 
County’s use of the Authority’s Transfer Stations. 

1.2 Disposal Site –Eco-Safe Solid Waste Landfill disposal facility located in Sullivan County, Tennessee, 
permitted or approved by all governmental bodies and agencies having jurisdiction and requiring such 
licenses, permits or approvals to receive for processing or final disposal of Waste Material and Small 
Dead Animals.

1.3 Solid Waste – useless, unwanted or discarded materials with insufficient liquid content to be free-
flowing, that result from domestic, industrial, commercial, agricultural, governmental and community 
operations which require proper storage, collection, transportation and disposal to prevent 
environmental pollution inimical to public health, safety and welfare.  Solid Waste does not include 
sewage, earth or material used to fill land in accordance with construction codes, slag, dissolved or 
suspended solids in industrial waste water effluents which are not acceptable for disposal in sanitary 
sewage treatment system or any material included in the definition of Excluded Waste.

2.0 DEFINITIONS OF ITEMS EXCLUDED FROM THIS CONTRACT

2.1 Hazardous Waste (excluded from this Contract)– Hazardous Waste is a form of Excluded Waste and 
is defined as any radioactive, volatile, corrosive, highly flammable, explosive, biomedical, infectious, 
biohazardous, toxic or listed or characteristic Hazardous Waste as defined by federal, state, provincial 
or local law or any otherwise regulated waste.  Hazardous Waste shall include, but not be limited to, 
any amount of waste listed or characterized as hazardous by the United States Environmental 
Protection Agency or any state agency pursuant to the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 
1976, as amended, and including future amendments thereto, and any other applicable federal, state 
or local laws or regulations.

2.2 Offal Waste (excluded from this Contract)– Waste animal (land or marine) matter from 
establishments such as butcher shops, slaughterhouses, food processing and packing plants, rendering 
plants and fertilizer plants. 

2.3 Special Waste (excluded from this Contract)– Special Waste is a form of Excluded Waste and is 
defined as nonhazardous, solid waste that is subject to additional governmental regulations or special 
handling requirements in collection, transportation, processing or disposal as a result of the 
characteristics of, or processes which generate, such waste.  Special Waste includes, but is not limited 
to:

(a) waste iron from a commercial or industrial activity;
(b) waste generated by an industrial process or a pollution control process;
(c) waste which may contain free liquids;
(d) waste which may contain residue and debris from the cleanup of a spill of petroleum, chemical 

or commercial products or wastes, or contaminated residuals;
(e) articles from the cleanup of a facility which generates, stores, treats, recycles or disposes of 

chemical substances, commercial products or wastes;
(f) wastes which are nonhazardous as a result of proper treatment pursuant to Subtitle C of the 

Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976 (“RCRA”);
(g) asbestos containing or asbestos bearing material that has been properly secured under existing 

federal, state, provincial and local laws, rules and regulations;
(h) containers that once contained hazardous substances, chemicals, or insecticides so long as such 

containers are “empty” as defined by RCRA;
(i) municipal or commercial solid waste that may have come into contact with any of the 

foregoing;
(j) filter cake sludge wastes from wastewater treatment processes;
(k) wastes containing any regulated polychlorinated biphenyls; and,
(l) ash, sludge, whole tires and powders.



Waste Management Contract with Cumberland Plateau RWMA  
Page 4 of 10

3.0 SCOPE OF WORK

3.1 General.   The work under this Contract shall consist of disposing of all Solid Waste transported by 
the Authority’s agent to Eco-Safe's Landfill in Blountville, TN in accordance with and subject to the 
terms and conditions of this Contract.

3.2 Work Not Covered By Contract.   The work under this Contract does not include transportation from 
the Authority’s Transfer Stations and disposal of Excluded Waste materials.

4.0 GENERAL PROVISIONS

4.1 Hours of Operation
Disposal of Waste Material shall not start before 6:00 A.M. or continue after 4:00 P.M. on the same 
day.  Exceptions to operation hours shall be affected only upon the mutual agreement of the 
Authority and Contractor, or when Contractor reasonably determines that an exception is necessary in 
order to complete disposal due to unusual circumstances.  If the Contractor has an interruption in 
accepting solid waste during the agreed upon hours, contractor agrees to immediately notify the 
Authority’s Executive Director of the interruption.  At all times Contractor agrees to ensure 
Authority’s ability to deposit solid waste without interruption and in order to allow the Authority to 
comply with all federal, state and local laws. 

4.2 Holidays – The following shall be holidays for purposes of this Contract:

New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day

Contractor or the Authority may decide to observe any or all of the above-mentioned holidays by 
suspension of disposal service on the holiday.

4.3 Office – The Contractor shall maintain an office or such other facilities through which it can be 
contacted by direct visit or by local (toll free) call from anywhere in the Authority’s area.  It shall be 
equipped with sufficient telephones and shall have a responsible person in charge from 8:00 A.M. to 
5:00 P.M on regular days of operation.

4.4 Disposal – The Authority will use the Eco Safe Sanitary Landfill, directly or via Cumberland Plateau 
Transfer Stations, for the disposal of all Cumberland Plateau solid waste and such approved special 
waste delivered to the Authority’s Transfer Stations in accordance with the terms and provisions of 
this Contract.  

4.5 Delivery – All solid waste will be delivered by an agent of the Authority.  Access to the Landfill and 
deposit shall not be unreasonably withheld from Authority or its agents. 

4.6 Point of Contact – All dealing, contacts, etc., between the Contractor and the Authority shall be 
directed by the Contractor to the Authority’s point of contact specified in the applicable Exhibit, and, 
by the Authority to the Contractor’s General Manager or Operations Manager.

5.0  BASIS OF PRICES AND METHOD OF PAYMENT

5.1 Disposal Rates (Exhibit C) - The prices to be paid by the Authority for the disposal of Waste
     Material from all Cumberland Plateau Transfer Stations shall be as shown on Exhibit C.

5.2 Costs and Charges - The charges for Contractor’s service with respect to this work shall be the  
disposal fee as defined in Exhibit C which is the set amount to be paid by the Authority.

5.3   Modification to Rates  - The fees in Exhibit C which may be charged by the Contractor for the first        
and subsequent years of the term hereof shall be effective October 27 annually. 

5.4 Contractor Billings to Authority – The Contractor shall bill the Authority for Waste Material 
disposal services rendered to Cumberland Plateau Regional Waste once a month and will be issued 
within ten (10) days following the end of the month and the Authority shall pay the Contractor 
within 60 days of invoice date.  Such billing and payment shall be based on the price rates and 
schedules set forth in the Contract Documents.  Number of tons deposited for disposal shall be 
determined by the Eco-Safe Landfill tickets and stored tare weight at Eco-Safe Scale House of 
which Contractor agrees to provide verification and inspection by Authority upon Authority request 
and as the Authority deems necessary. Payments not made by the Authority on or before their due 
date shall be subject to late fees of: a) the greater of five dollars ($5) or one and one-half percent 
(1.5%) per month or portion thereof; or, b) the maximum allowed by law, if less than a).  



Waste Management Contract with Cumberland Plateau RWMA  
Page 5 of 10

6.0 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

The Contractor shall conduct operations under this Contract in compliance with all applicable laws; 
provided, however, that the Contract shall govern the obligations of the Contractor where there exist 
conflicting ordinances of the Authority on the subject.

7.0 RISK ALLOCATION AND INDEMNITY

7.01  Authority shall be responsible for any and all claims for personal injuries or death, or the loss of life 
or damage to property to the extent caused by the Authority’s negligence or acts of willful misconduct 
or those of its contractors or agents.  The Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the Authority 
and it's member counties, officers, agents, servants and employees from and against any and all suits, 
actions, legal proceedings claims, demands, damages, costs, expenses and attorneys' fees to the extent 
resulting from a willful or negligent  act or omission of the Contractor, its officers, agents, servants 
and employees in the performance of the Contract. In addition, the Contractor on account of damage 
to property or personal injury, including death, arising through operations  under this Contract, the 
Contractor agrees to indemnify  the Authority and it's member counties against any expense, liability 
or payment damage for property or personal injury, including death and injuries to the Contractor's 
employees, caused or arising in any manner arising from operations hereunder, including the use by 
the Contractor of equipment or facilities furnished by the Authority. 

7.02  In the event any Excluded Waste is not discovered by Contractor before it is disposed of in 
Contractor’s landfill, Contractor may, in its sole discretion, remove, transport and dispose of such 
Excluded Waste at a location authorized to accept such Excluded Waste in accordance with all 
applicable laws and charge the depositor or generator of such Excluded Waste all direct and indirect 
costs incurred due to removal, remediation, handling, transportation, delivery and disposal of such 
Excluded Waste.  The Authority shall provide all reasonable assistance to Contractor to conduct an 
investigation to determine the identity of the depositor or generator of the Excluded Waste and to 
collect the costs incurred by Contractor in connection with such Excluded Waste.  Subject to the 
Authority’s providing all such reasonable assistance to Contractor, Contractor shall release Authority 
from any liability for any such costs incurred by Contractor in connection with such Excluded Waste, 
except to the extent that such Excluded Waste is determined to be attributed to the Authority.

8.0 LICENSES AND TAXES

The Contractor shall obtain all licenses and permits (other than the license and permit granted by this 
Contract) and promptly pay all taxes required by the State.

9.0  FORCE MAJEURE

Except for Authority’s obligation to pay amounts due to Contractor, any failure or delay in performance 
under this Contract due to contingencies beyond a party’s reasonable control, including, but not limited to, 
strikes, riots, terrorist acts, compliance with applicable laws or governmental orders, fires, bad weather and 
acts of God, shall not constitute a breach of this Contract, but shall entitle the affected party to be relieved 
of performance under this Contract during the term of such event and for a reasonable time thereafter.

10.0  ASSIGNMENT OF CONTRACT

Neither party shall assign this Contract in its entirety without the other party’s prior written consent, which 
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Contractor may assign this 
Contract without the Authority’s consent to its parent companies or any of their subsidiaries, to any person 
or entity who purchases any operations from Contractor or as a collateral assignment to any lender to 
Contractor. In the event Contractor sales operations to a person or entity, Conractor shall ensure the same 
terms and conditions will be assumed by the purchaser including the same or lower  total disposal fees. 

11.0   TITLE TO WASTE 

Title to Waste Materials delivered by the Authority shall pass to the Contractor when accepted by 
Contractor’s landfill.  Title to and liability for any Excluded Waste shall remain with the generator or 
depositor of such waste and shall at no time pass to Contractor.

12.0   TERMINATION OF CONTRACT 

12.01   In the event of a failure by Contractor to perform any material provision of this Contract, the 
Authority shall give written notice of such breach to the Contractor along with at least thirty (30) 
days (the “cure period”) to correct such breach. Authority may terminate this Contract after such 
cure period if Contractor has not adequately corrected such breach in accordance with this Contract 



Waste Management Contract with Cumberland Plateau RWMA  
Page 6 of 10

and Authority so notifies Contractor in writing of such termination action.  At such time, Authority 
shall pay Contractor only all charges and fees for the services performed on or before such 
termination date. Thereafter, in the event such termination occurs, Authority, as its sole and 
exclusive remedy may exercise its rights under Contractor’s performance bond, and procure the 
services of another waste services provider to complete the work covered under this Contract for the 
remainder of the time period covered by this Contract.  Except for such right, following any such 
termination and the final payment from the Authority to the Contractor, neither party shall have any 
further obligation under this Contract other than for claims for personal injuries or property damage 
as expressly provided in this Contract and arising prior to such termination date.

12.02   In the event of a failure by Authority to perform any material provision of this Contract, the 
Contractor shall give written notice of such breach to the Authority along with at least thirty (30) 
days (the “cure period”) to correct such breach. Contractor may terminate this Contract after such 
cure period if Authority has not adequately corrected such breach in accordance with this Contract 
and Contractor so notifies Authority in writing of such termination action.  At such time, Authority 
shall pay Contractor for all charges and fees for the services performed on or before such 
termination date. Thereafter, following any such termination and the final payment from the 
Authority to the Contractor, neither party shall have any further obligation under this Contract other 
than for claims for personal injuries or property damage as expressly provided in these terms and 
arising prior to such termination date.

12.03   Either party may terminate this Agreement upon written notice to the other if the offending party: 
makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or files a voluntary petition in bankruptcy, 
receivership or insolvency, or files an answer in any involuntary proceeding of that nature admitting 
the material allegations of the petition, or if a proceeding in bankruptcy, receivership or insolvency 
shall be instituted against the offending and such proceeding is not dismissed within sixty (60) days. 

12.03   In the event either party waives default by the other party, such waiver shall not be construed or 
determined to be a continuing waiver of the same or any subsequent breach or default. 

  
13.0     MISCELLANEOUS TERMS

13.1.1 No intellectual property (IP) rights in any of Contractor’s IP are granted to Authority under this   
Contract.   

13.2 This Contract shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of the parties and their permitted 
assigns. 

13.3 If any provision of this Contract shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, it shall be modified so as to be 
valid, legal and enforceable but so as most nearly to retain the intent of the parties.  If such modification is 
not possible, such provision shall be severed from this Contract.  In either case, the validity, legality and 
enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Contract shall not in any way be affected thereby.

13.4 The failure or delay on the part of either party to exercise any right, power, privilege or remedy under this 
Contract shall not constitute a waiver thereof.  No modification by either party of any provision shall be 
deemed to have been made unless made in writing. Any waiver by a party for one or more similar events 
shall not be construed to apply to any other events whether similar or not.

13.5 This Contract shall be interpreted and governed by the law of the Commonwealth of Virginia and 
jurisdiction and venue for any litigation commenced under this contract shall lie in the Commonwealth of 
Virginia.

13.6 This Contract sets forth the entire agreement of the parties and supersedes all prior agreements, whether 
written or oral, that exist between the parties regarding the subject matter of this Contract.

13.7 It is understood that the Cumberland Plateau Regional Waste Management Authority may deduct from 
payments due or to become due to the Contractor amounts as liquidated damages upon proof of damages 
by the Cumberland Plateau Regional Waste Management Authority.  Said right does not preclude the 
Authority from any damages to which it would otherwise be entitled.

Failure of the Contractor to fulfill certain aspects of the Contract shall carry monetary penalties as 
payments due to the Cumberland Plateau Regional Waste Management Authority as follows:

13.07.1 Failure to respond to and resolve complaints within 2 weeks - $1,000.00/incident;

13.07.2 Failure to provide efficient landfill operations such that the off-loading of solid waste is  
impeded at the disposal site due to poor site maintenance –$1,5000/incident



Waste Management Contract with Cumberland Plateau RWMA  
Page 7 of 10

Workers’ Compensation

Coverage A Statutory
Coverage B - Employers Liability $1,000,000 each Bodily Injury by Accident

$1,000,000 policy limit Bodily Injury by Disease
$1,000,000 each occurrence Bodily Injury by Disease

Automobile Liability

Bodily Injury/Property Damage 
Combined – Single Limit

$3,000,000
Coverage is to apply to all owned, non-owned, hired and 
leased vehicles (including trailers).

Pollution Liability Endorsement MCS-90 endorsement for pollution liability coverage

Commercial General Liability

Bodily Injury/Property Damage 
Combined – Single Limit

$2,500,000 each occurrence
$5,000,000 general aggregate

All such insurance policies will be primary without the right of contribution from any other insurance coverage 
maintained by Authority.  All policies required herein shall be written by insurance carriers with a rating of 
A.M. Bests of at least “A-” and a financial size category of at least VII.  Upon Authority’s request, Contractor 
shall furnish Authority with a certificate of insurance, evidencing that such coverages are in effect.  Such 
certificate: (i) will also provide for 30 days prior written notice of cancellation to the Authority; (ii) shall show 
Authority as an additional insured under the Automobile and General Liability policies; and, (iii) shall contain 
waivers of subrogation in favor of Authority (excluding Worker’s Compensation policy) except with respect to 
the sole negligence or willful misconduct of Authority.  In addition, the following requirements apply:

 The Commercial General Liability policy must include Contractual Liability coverage specifically 
covering Contractor’s Indemnification of Authority herein.

 Coverage must be provided for Products/Completed Operations.
 The policy shall also contain a cross Liability/Severability of Interests provision assuring that the acts of 

one insured do not affect the applicability of coverage to another insured.



Waste Management Contract with Cumberland Plateau RWMA  
Page 8 of 10

EXHIBIT C
CONTRACTOR’S PROPOSAL/PRICING

Disposal Rates  (all Transfer Stations) includes annual price increase 4%

Year 1 (October 27, 2023-October 27, 2024) $27.00 / Ton
Year 2 (October 27, 2024-October 27, 2025) $28.08 / Ton
Year 3 (October 27, 2025-October 27, 2026) $29.20 / Ton
If 2 year Extension is Agreed Upon
Year 4 (October 27, 2026-October 27, 2027) $30.36 / Ton
Year 5 (October 27, 2027-October 27, 2028) $31.57/ Ton



Waste Management Contract with Cumberland Plateau RWMA  
Page 9 of 10

EXHIBIT D
CONTRACTOR’S LETTER OF CREDIT

To be provided by Contractor.



SOLID WASTE TRANSPORTATION AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this the ____ day of_________, 
2023, by and between the CUMBERLAND PLATEAU REGIONAL WASTE 
MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY, an authority created under the provisions of the 
Virginia Water and Sewer Authorities Act, (hereinafter called “Authority”) and 
CUSTOM ECOLOGY, INC., a ___________ corporation, authorized to conduct 
business in Virginia (hereinafter called “CEI”). 

WHEREAS, the Authority desires to engage an independent contractor to provide 
professional services of operating a solid waste transportation system for transportation 
of all of the solid waste generated within the Authority’s region and delivered to the 
Authority’s three (3) solid waste transfer stations and such other sites as may be 
designated and operated by the Authority to the Eco-Safe Sanitary Landfill (Eco-Safe 
Systems, LLC, a subsidiary of Waste Management, Inc.) for disposal, and has found that 
it is exempt from obtaining competitive sealed bids and has issued a Request for Proposal 
for Provision of Solid Waste Transportation Services date April 27, 2023 for a Contract 
Date of October 27, 2023 (The “RFP”) for competitive negotiation;

WHEREAS, CEI desires to provide such transportation services for the Authority and has 
submitted its Proposal in response to the RFP.

WHEREAS, the Authority has selected CEI and desires to engage CEI to perform such 
transportation services all in accordance with and subject to the terms and conditions of 
this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the following mutual 
agreements and covenants, the Authority and CEI, each intending to be legally bound, 
agree as follows: 

1.00 DEFINITIONS 

1.01 Eco-Safe Sanitary Landfill – The Authority’s designated sanitary landfill will be 
Eco-Safe Solid Waste disposal facility located in Sullivan County, Tennessee. 

1.02 Cumberland Plateau Region – The geographic area comprised of all of the 
incorporated and unincorporated areas within each of the Counties which is a Member of 
the Authority, and any County in the State of Virginia adjacent to (having a common 
boundary with) any Member that may enter into an agreement with the Authority after 
the date hereof relating to such adjacent County’s use of the Cumberland Plateau 
Transfer Stations. 

1.03 Cumberland Plateau Solid Waste – Any Solid Waste as defined herein generated 
within the Cumberland Plateau Region.

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight



1.04 Cumberland Plateau Special Waste – Any Special Waste as defined herein 
generated within the Cumberland Plateau Region. 

1.05 Cumberland Plateau Transfer Stations – The three (3) Solid Waste transfer 
stations or other stations or sites operated by the Authority and located in the Cumberland 
Plateau Region Counties of Dickenson, Buchanan, and Russell for acceptance, transfer, 
transportation, and unloading of Cumberland Plateau Solid Waste to the Eco-Safe 
Sanitary Landfill in accordance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement, or such 
other sanitary landfill as may be designated by the Authority.  Should the Authority 
designate another landfill, the parties shall re-negotiate the transportation costs.

1.06 Governmental Approvals – All permits, licenses and approvals required for the 
transportation to and/or disposal of Cumberland Plateau Solid Waste at the Eco-Safe 
Sanitary Landfill.

1.07 Hazardous Waste – Any chemical, compound, mixture, substance or article which 
is designated by the United States Environmental Protection Agency or by any State 
having jurisdiction to be “hazardous” as that term is defined by or pursuant to federal or 
state law.

1.08 Members – The Counties of Russell, Buchanan and Dickenson, Virginia. 

1.09 Non-Conforming Wastes – Any waste excluded from the definition of Solid 
Waste as provided in Section 1.12 and any Special Waste which has not been approved 
by Eco-Safe and, if required, by any governmental agency having jurisdiction.

1.10 Service Commencement Date – October 27, 2023.

1.11 Solid Waste – Any garbage, trash, rubbish, brush and other waste material 
allowed under the Governmental Approvals issued for the operation of the Advanced 
Disposal Eco Safe Systems Sanitary Landfill to be disposed of at the Eco-Safe Sanitary 
Landfill but excluding (a) any Hazardous Waste, (b) asbestos and (c) any other material 
not allowed under any of the Governmental Approvals issued with respect to the 
operation of the Eco-Safe Sanitary Landfill or pursuant to applicable laws and 
regulations.

1.12 Special Waste – Any Solid Waste which requires special processing, handling or 
disposal techniques which are different from the techniques normally utilized for 
handling or disposal or contains an added element of expense to transport or dispose of as 
determined by Eco-Safe Systems, LLC or requires approval from any State agency and/or 
Eco-Safe Systems, LLC. Examples of such Special Waste types may include, but are not 
limited to:  fly ash, combustion ash, sludge, drilling fluids and drill cuttings, asbestos, 
industrial wastes, liquid wastes, infectious wastes and residue, pollution control residue, 
debris or contaminated soil and water from the cleanup of a spill. 



1.13 Transportation Fee – The amount set forth in Section 7.00 hereof, as adjusted, 
charges by CEI for the performance of transportation services hereunder. 

1.14 Ton – 2,000 pounds.

2.00 SCOPE OF SERVICES

Subject to the terms and conditions hereof and the performance of the Authority’s 
agreements and duties hereunder, CEI shall furnish all labor and at least five (5) tractors, 
twelve (12) trailers, three (3) yard tractors and/or all equipment or material necessary to 
provide Cumberland Plateau Solid Waste Transportation services from such three (3) 
Cumberland Plateau Transfer Stations to the Eco-Safe Sanitary Landfill from and after 
the Service Commencement Date in accordance with and subject to the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement. CEI will not have a minimum tonnage on the amount of 
waste placed into each of the transport trailers hauling from the three (3) Cumberland 
Plateau Transfer Stations to the Eco-Safe Sanitary Landfill, however it is understood that 
the Authority will maximize load volumes within legal limits in order to ensure 
efficiencies in transportation systems nor will a charge be placed on the Authority for not 
meeting a minimum tonnage. The Authority agrees to not load more waste into the 
transport trailers than the allowable by the Federal Department of Transportation and 
State Department of Transportation. 

3.00 CUMBERLAND PLATEAU SOLID WASTE TRANSPORTATION SERVICES

3.01 Acceptance and Loading of Solid Waste; Load Limits – The Authority will accept 
all Cumberland Plateau Solid Waste delivered to the Cumberland Plateau Transfer 
Stations. The Authority shall not accept any Non-Conforming Wastes at the Cumberland 
Plateau Transfer Stations. The Authority will promptly load, all Solid Wastes accepted at 
the Cumberland Plateau Transfer Stations into CEI collection trailers for transportation to 
and unloading of waste into the Eco-Safe Sanitary Landfill. The Authority will use its 
best reasonable business efforts to load each collection trailer to its maximum legal 
capacity per load or such lesser weight per load as is mutually acceptable to both parties 
subject in all events to any maximum vehicle weight limits imposed by applicable law. 
Under this agreement, CEI will not impose a minimum capacity per load upon the 
Authority.

3.02 Compliance – The Authority will conduct operations with respect to each of the 
Cumberland Plateau Transfer Stations in accordance with all applicable federal and state 
laws, rules and regulations, and the terms and conditions of all permits, licenses and 
approvals issued for the operation of the Cumberland Plateau Transfer Stations.

3.03 Inspection – The Authority may, on a reasonable basis as the Authority deems 
necessary, make inspections of the CEI records during normal business hours, however, 
such inspections shall be made only by authorized employees or agents of the Authority. 



3.04 Transportation – From and after the Service Commencement Date, CEI shall 
transport all Cumberland Plateau Solid Waste and Cumberland Plateau Special Waste 
(approved for disposal by Eco-Safe Sanitary Landfill pursuant to Section 1.12 hereof) 
accepted at each of the Cumberland Plateau Transfer Stations, directly to the Eco-Safe 
Sanitary Landfill as agreed upon in the RFP. 

3.05 Use of Cumberland Plateau Transfer Stations and Eco-Safe Sanitary Landfill – 
The Authority will use the Eco-Safe Sanitary Landfill, directly or via Cumberland 
Plateau Transfer Stations, for disposal of all Cumberland Plateau Solid Waste and such 
approved Cumberland Plateau Special Waste delivered to the Cumberland Plateau 
Transfer Stations from and after the Service Commencement Date in accordance with the 
terms and provisions of the Authority and Eco-Safe/Waste Management Solid Waste 
Disposal Agreement, as amended, between the Authority and Eco-Safe Systems, LLC. In 
the event that the Eco-Safe Sanitary Landfill becomes unavailable for the disposal of 
Cumberland Plateau Solid Waste during the term of this Agreement, the Authority (or its 
subcontractor, if applicable) will negotiate with CEI with respect to any necessary 
adjustment to the Transportation Fee to reflect any increased or decreased costs of 
transportation as a result of such Eco-Safe Sanitary Landfill becoming unavailable. The 
Authority will also use its best efforts to enter into Agreements with each Member, each 
municipality located within the limits of each Member and each generator and 
commercial hauler of any Cumberland Plateau Special Waste (approved for disposal by 
Eco-Safe Systems, LLC pursuant to Section 1.12 hereof) for their use of the Cumberland 
Plateau Transfer Stations for the disposal of all Cumberland Plateau Solid Waste and 
Cumberland Plateau Special Waste collected and/or generated by such Member, 
municipality, generator or commercial hauler from and after the Service Commencement 
Date and throughout the initial and any and all renewal terms of this Agreement (the ‘Use 
Agreements”). It is contemplated that pursuant to the Use Agreements such Members and 
municipalities would agree, among other things, to continue or implement waste 
collection systems or take such other action allowed by applicable law to utilize the 
Authority and its Cumberland Plateau Transfer Stations for all Cumberland Plateau 
Special Waste generated within the jurisdiction of the Members and such municipalities.  

3.06 Transportation Operations and Holidays – The following shall be holidays for 
purposes of this Agreement:
Hours of Operation-Any time restrictions shall be affected only upon the mutual 
agreement of the Authority’s Executive Director and CEI owner or agent.
Holidays- CEI shall specify holidays to be observed subject to the Authority’s 
personnel’s approval.  The following Holiday’s are observed by the Authority and its 
landfill- New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving 
Day and Christmas Day.

Office- CEI shall maintain an office or such other facilities through which it can be 
contacted.  It shall be equipped with sufficient telephones and shall have a responsible 
person in charge from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. Monday through Friday/on regular 
collection days to handle complaints as needed.



The Authority or its member counties may decide to observe any or all of the above-
mentioned holidays by suspension of transportation services on the holiday. The 
Authority or its member counties will give CEI advance notice of the Authority’s or Eco-
Safe’s observance of any holiday and the Authority may also suspend its transfer station 
operations on such observed holiday. 

Service Delivery- If CEI is unable to perform the duties under this agreement, the 
Authority’s personnel has the right and privilege to secure another service provider and 
CEI will be responsible for any additional costs incurred.  

3.07 Title – Title to, and liability for, Solid Waste transported by CEI shall pass to CEI 
immediately upon CEI’s acceptance of same.  Acceptance by CEI shall be defined as the 
loading of the Solid Waste into CEI’s hauling trailers by the Authority.  Title to and 
liability for the Solid Waste under this Agreement shall remain with CEI until they 
deliver same, and it is accepted by, Eco-Safe under their Disposal Contract with the 
Authority.  Title to and liability for Non Conforming Wastes shall remain with the 
Authority and shall never pass to CEI or Eco-Safe sanitary landfill. 

3.08 Special Waste – Where requested by the Authority or Eco-Safe  landfill, the 
Authority shall assist CEI or its landfill in identifying each generator of Cumberland 
Plateau Special Waste and shall also require each generator of Cumberland Plateau 
Special Waste, in addition to any label, marking, manifest or other such documentation 
required by any applicable law, regulation or permit, to provide the Authority and Eci-
Safe’s landfill, in advance of any shipment of Special Waste, a representative sample of 
the Special Waste to be transported (if applicable) and disposed of by the Authority’s 
Landfill, and a detailed written physical and chemical description or analysis of the 
Special Waste including, without limitation, a listing of unique characteristics 
significance to the handling of such Special Waste (“Waste Characterization Date Sheet” 
or “WCDS”). The Authority shall promptly furnish to CEI and its landfill any 
information regarding known, suspected or planned changes in composition of any such 
Special Waste and the Authority shall accordingly update the WCDS. The Authority 
warrants that all Special Waste specified in a WCDS and accepted at any Cumberland 
Plateau Transfer Station shall conform to the description set forth on the WCDS. Such 
Special Waste shall not be received at the Cumberland Plateau Transfer Stations or 
delivered to the Eco-Safe’s Landfill for transportation and disposal until such WCDS and 
representative sampling are analyzed and approved by the Authority and Eco-Safe. The 
Authority and its landfill shall have the right to reject loads of bulky Special Wastes if in 
landfill’s judgment such loads would disrupt any normal operating procedures. 

4.00 EFFECTIVE DATE

This Agreement shall be effective upon the execution of this Agreement by the Authority 
and CEI, and performance of transportation services by CEI. hereunder shall commence 
in the Service Commencement Date in accordance with the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement section 1.10.



5.00  INDEMNITY

5.01 Indemnity by the CEI, Inc. – Custom Ecology, Inc. and its subcontractors will 
indemnify and save harmless the Authority from and against any and all suits, actions, 
legal proceedings, claims, demands, damages, costs, expenses, and reasonable attorneys’ 
fees incurred by CEI or its subcontractors to the extent resulting from (a) any breach by 
the Authority of any of its agreements hereunder, and (b) any negligent act or omission of 
CEI, its employees or agents in the performance of transportation services under this 
Agreement; provided, however, that CEI or its subcontractors shall not be obligated to 
indemnify the Authority from and against any suits, actions, legal proceedings, claims, 
demands, damages, costs, expenses or attorneys’ fees to the extent resulting from any 
negligent act or omission of the Authority or of any of its officers, agents, servants, 
employees or contactors or to the extent resulting from any breach by the Authority of 
any of its agreements hereunder. 
  

5.02 Indemnity by Authority – The Authority will indemnify and save harmless 
Custom Ecology, Inc. and its subcontractors from and against any and all suits, actions, 
legal proceedings, claims, demands, damages, costs, expenses, and reasonable attorneys’ 
fees incurred by CEI to the extent resulting from (a) any breach by the Authority of any 
of its agreements hereunder, and (b) any negligent act or omission of the Authority or any 
of its officers, agents, servants, employees or contractors; provided, however, that the 
Authority shall not be obligated to indemnify CEI from and against any suits, actions, 
legal proceedings, claims, demands, damages, costs, expenses or attorneys’ fees to the 
extent resulting from any negligent act or omission of CEI or of any of its officers, 
agents, servants, employees or contractors or to the extent resulting from any breach CEI 
of any of its agreements hereunder.

6.00 TERM

This Agreement is for an initial term beginning on the date of execution of this 
Agreement and shall remain in full force and effect from and after the date hereof until 
the expiration of a period of five (5) years from then and after the Service 
Commencement Date. Upon mutual agreement by the parties the Contract may be 
extended in additional five (5) year extensions under the same terms and conditions.  It is 
understood that both parties must agree, with written notification, of this extension at 
least sixty (60) days prior to the expiration date as defined herein.  Rates must be agreed 
upon by both parties. 

7.00  BASIS AND METHOD OR PAYMENT/ADJUSTMENTS

7.01 Base Price and Transportation Fees Per Ton – For Cumberland Plateau Solid 
Waste transportation services rendered hereunder, CEI will charge the Authority and the 
Authority will pay to CEI, without set-off or deduction, the transportation fee specified 
on Exhibit A hereto, as adjusted in accordance with the terms and provisions herein, for 



each Ton of Cumberland Plateau Solid Waste or Special Waste transported by CEI at the 
Cumberland Plateau Transfer Stations for transportation hereunder. The tons transported 
will be determined by the Eco-Safe’s Landfill tickets and stored tare weight at Eco-Safe 
Scale House of which verification will be afforded to the Authority as it deems necessary. 
The Transportation Base Rate per ton Fee, under this agreement shall be set at $22.31 per 
ton for Buchanan County, $22.04 per ton for Dickenson County and $20.27 per ton for 
Russell County.   Following the commencement of the second year and each subsequent 
year after the Service Commencement Date the base rate will increase as agreed upon by 
both parties in exhibit A hereto. 

7.02 Custom Ecology Inc. Billings to Authority – CEI will invoice the Authority on a 
monthly basis on or before the tenth (10th) day each month for all transportation services 
rendered during the preceding calendar month and the Authority will remit payment for 
each invoice without set-off or deduction to CEI within 30 calendar days of the date of 
such invoice. Such billing shall be based on the Transportation Fees as adjusted pursuant 
herein.

8.00 INSURANCE

The Authority and CEI shall each maintain in full force and effect Employer’s Liability, 
Workmen’s Compensation, Public Liability and Property Damage Insurance. Before 
commencement of work hereunder, CEI will furnish the Authority with certificates of 
insurance to the effect that such insurance has been procured and is in force. The 
certificates shall contain the following express obligations:

“This is to certify that the policies of insurance described herein have been issued 
to the insured for whom this certificate is executed and are in force at this time. In the 
event of cancellation or material change in a policy affecting the certificate holder, thirty 
(30) days prior written notice will be given the certificate holder.”

The Authority and CEI shall each carry the following types of insurance in at least the 
limits specified below:

Coverages Limits of Liability
Workmen’s Compensation Statutory

Employer’s Liability $500,000

Bodily Injury Liability $500,000 each occurrence
Except Automobile $1,000,000 aggregate

Property Damage Liability $500,000 each occurrence
Except Automobile $1,000,000 aggregate

Automobile Bodily Injury $500,000 each person
Liability $1,000,000 each occurrence

Automobile Property Damage $500,000 each occurrence



Liability

Excess Umbrella Liability $5,000,000 each occurrence

As an alternative to the above, CEI may insure the above public liability and property 
coverages under any plan or plans of self-insurance approved by the State of Virginia. 
The coverages may be provided by CEI, Inc., a ________ corporation, or any other 
corporation affiliated with CEI.

9.00 DEFAULT

Except as otherwise provided herein, if either party breaches any of the material 
provisions of this Agreement and fails to cure such breach within a period of thirty (30) 
days after receiving written notice setting forth a detailed description of such breach from 
the other party, unless a longer period of time is required to cure such breach and the 
party breaching shall have failed to commence to cure such breach within said thirty (30) 
day period and pursue diligently to completion thereof, then the other party may 
terminate this Agreement.

10.00 MISCELLANEOUS

10.01 Transferability – No assignment of this Agreement or any right accruing under 
this Agreement shall be made in whole or in part by the Authority without the express 
prior written consent of CEI or by CEI without the express prior written consent of the 
Authority, except that CEI without consent of the Authority may assign and delegate any 
of its rights and obligations under this Agreement or subcontract the performance of any 
services to be rendered hereunder to any corporation or other entity which controls, or is 
controlled by , or under common control with CEI. 

10.02 Liquidated Damages – Work shall be completed in a prompt, lawful, and 
professional manner and in accordance with the terms of this agreement.  In addition to 
any other remedy contained herein, it is understood that the Authority may deduct from 
payment due or to become due to CEI amounts as liquidated damages upon proof of any 
of the following occurrences by CEI. Said right and exercise thereof does not preclude 
the Authority from any damages to which to would otherwise be entitled. Failure of CEI 
to fulfill certain aspects of this agreement shall carry monetary penalties as payments due 
to the Authority as follows:

A) Failure to provide on-request service within 24 hours-$500/trailer/incident;
B) Failure to deliver empty trailer(s) at time of scheduled haul or pickup-
$500/day/container;
C) Failure to maintain secure loads of materials, and allowing materials to fall out or 
blow out of transport containers being hauled onto State, City or County roads-
$500/incident;
D) Failure to respond to and resolve complaints within a 24 hours- $1,000/incident;



E) Failure to provide the agreed upon trackers, trailers and yard trucks that impedes 
the Authority’s ability to manage its solid waste-$1,500/incident.

10.03 Force Majeure – Except for the Authority’s obligation to pay CEI for services 
rendered hereunder in accordance with the terms and provisions of Section 7.00 hereof, 
the obligations of the Authority and CEI hereunder are subject to and excused in the 
event of the occurrence any contingency beyond its reasonable control including, without 
limitation, (i) strikes, riots, wars, acts of God, (ii) governmental orders, decrees and 
regulations, including, without limitation, if CEI is for any reason delayed or barred by 
governmental of judicial action with respect to the construction or operation or CEI. 

10.04 Severability – In case of any one or more of the provisions contained in this 
Agreement shall, for any reason, be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any 
respect or its inclusion shall result in the invalidity, illegality or unenforceability of this 
Agreement, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other 
provision of this Agreement and this Agreement shall be construed as if such invalid, 
illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained herein; provided, 
however, that it is the intention of the parties hereto that in lieu of each term, clause, or 
provision that is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, there shall be added as part 
of this Agreement a term, clause or provision as similar in terms to such invalid, illegal or 
unenforceable term, clause or provision as may be possible and be valid, legal or 
enforceable.  

10.05 Cumulative Remedies – All rights, remedies and powers shall be deemed 
cumulative and not exclusive of any rights, remedies or powers available. No delay or 
omission to exercise any right, remedy or power shall impair such right, remedy or power 
or shall be construed to be a waiver or any breach or any acquiescence therein. Any such 
right, remedy or power may be exercised from time to time, independently or 
concurrently, and as often as shall be deemed expedient. No single or partial exercise of 
any right, remedy or power shall preclude other or further exercise thereof.

10.06 Independent Contractor; No Agency – CEI will act hereunder as an contractor and 
not as an agent of the Authority. Similarly, the Authority is not an agent of CEI or 
empowered or authorized to obligate CEI in any way.

10.07 Performance Bond or Letter of Credit – CEI will furnish a performance bond or 
Letter of Credit to the Authority in the amount of 100% of the estimated cost of three (3) 
months of transportation services hereunder determined by the initial Transportation Fee 
as provided in Section 7.00 hereof. With respect to any default by CEI hereunder, the 
Authority’s sole remedy with respect thereto shall be to exercise its rights under such 
performance bond or Letter of Credit.

10.08 Entire Agreement – This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement and 
understanding between the parties relating to the subject matter hereof and cancels and 
supersedes all prior negotiations, representations, proposals, understandings and 
agreements, either written or oral, relating to the subject matter hereof. This Agreement 



shall not be modified, altered, changed or amended unless in writing and signed by both 
parties following the first initial calendar year and in conformance with applicable 
procurement laws.

10.09 Choice of Law-This Agreement shall be interpreted and governed by the Laws of 
the Commonwealth of Virginia and jurisdiction and venue for any litigation commenced 
under this Agreement shall lie in the Commonwealth of Virginia.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Authority and Advanced Disposal have entered into this 
Agreement (triplicate counterpart originals) on the day and year first above written.

Cumberland Plateau Regional Waste Management 
Authority 

BY: ________________________________
Ronald P, CPRWMA Chairman

COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA,
COUNTY OF __________________, to-wit:

The foregoing deed was signed, sworn and acknowledged before me by 
______________________, on this ______ day of _________, 2023.

My commission expires:  ____________________________.

______________________________________
                    NOTARY PUBLIC

Custom Ecology, Inc.

BY: ________________________________

TITLE: ____________________________

STATE OF ___________________,
COUNTY OF __________________, to-wit:

The foregoing deed was signed, sworn and acknowledged before me by 
______________________, on this ______ day of _________, 2023.

My commission expires:  ____________________________.

______________________________________
                    NOTARY PUBLIC



EXHIBIT A TO SOLID WASTE TRANSPORTATION AGREEMENT

Transportation Fee under Section 7.00 from the following Cumberland Plateau Transfer 
Station to the Eco-Safe Landfill 
Base Price Per Ton.
Buchanan County Transfer Station: $22.31 Ton
Dickenson County Transfer Station: $22.04 Ton
Russell County Transfer Station: $20.27 Ton

Fuel Surcharge Per Ton Per County:
Buchanan County Transfer Station: Fuel surcharge will be $3.13 for every $0.10 Diesel 
Fuel increases above $3.836 per gallon for each ton hauled from Buchanan County. 
If/when the price of Fuel drops below $3.836 per gallon, this fuel surcharge would work 
in reverse. 
Dickenson County Transfer Station: Fuel surcharge will be $3.13 for every $0.10 Diesel 
Fuel increases above $3.836 per gallon for each ton hauled from Dickenson County. 
If/when the price of Fuel drops below $3.836 per gallon, this fuel surcharge would work 
in reverse.  
Russell County Transfer Station: Fuel surcharge will be $3.13 for every $0.10 Diesel 
Fuel increases above $3.836 per gallon for each ton hauled from Russell County. If/when 
the price of Fuel drops below $3.836 per gallon, this fuel surcharge would work in 
reverse.   

The above Transportation Fee shall be adjusted in accordance with the terms and 
provision of this Agreement.

ATTEST: CUMBERLAND PLATEAU REGIONAL WASTE MANAGEMENT 
AUTHORITY

By: _________________________ By:______________________________

Title:________________________ Title:____________________________

ATTEST: CUSTOM ECOLOGY, INC.

By: ___________________________ By:___________________________

Title:_________________________ Title:________________________



33
.2

-2
38

 R
E
S
O
LU

T
IO

N
 S

A
M

P
LE

The Board of Supervisors of Russell County, in regular meeting on the 5th day of 
June 2023, adopted the following: 

RESOLUTION SUPPORTING TEMPORARY CLOSURE OF ROUTE 687 FOR 

BRIDGE REPLACEMENT

WHEREAS, the Virginia Department of Transportation has deemed it necessary to 

close a portion of Russell County Route 687 (Roanoke Hill Rd.) in the best interests 

of public safety for construction of Project 0687-083-857, C501, B643 (UPC 106175), 

and;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Russell County Board of 

Supervisors hereby concurs with the Virginia Department of Transportation’s 

decision to close Route 687 from 0.034-mile West of Route 63 to 0.097-mile East of 

Route 63, as indicated on the attached map, to through traffic from June 6, 2023 until 

completion of Project 0687-083-857, C501, B643 (UPC 106175), pursuant to §33.2-

238 Code of Virginia, and;

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the temporary closure of Route 687 is contingent 

upon the Nature Conservancy’s approval of and the construction of a temporary 

access through their lands from Route 63 to Route 687, and; 

BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED that a certified copy of this resolution be forwarded to 

the Resident Engineer for the Virginia Department of Transportation. 

Recorded Vote: A Copy Teste:

Moved By:  Signed:  

Seconded By:  Printed Name:  

Yeas:    Nays:  Title:  



33
.2

-2
38

 R
E
S
O
LU

T
IO

N
 S

A
M

P
LE



Clinch River Little League 

May 8, 2023 

Post office Box 1126 

Castlewood, VA 24224 
Bob Salyers, President 

League Id # 3461104 

Fed. Id# 54-1350161 

Russell County Board of Supervisors 
Lou Ann Wallace, Chairperson 

1137 Highland Drive Suite A 

Lebanon,Va.24266 

Dear Supervisors: 

RE: Request for funding for 2025/2026 

We are in receipt of the letter dated February 7, 2023 from your office asking for certain 
reports for your Board to review during your budget deliberations, they have been Included as 
attachments to this submission and are labeled attachment #1 and attachment #2. 

Attachment #1 is a copy of our fiscal budget that is adopted at our annual membership 

meeting in September, it reflects the amount budgeted as income and expenses in the column 
labeled 2023 and in the column to the right it reflects the actual income and expenses through 

April 28, 2023. It also reflects the previous five (S) years of our League finances. Please keep in 

mind that these figures are connected with all of our fields and facilities which is the one at the 
park in Castlewood and three (3) at the fairground complex and one in St. Paul. We do not 

account for them separately. Attachment #2 reflects what the costs are associated with by line

item income and expense. If you have any questions about either of these feel free to call. 

In regard to our request for funding to the park this year, we would respectfully ask for 
an increase In the amount that the Board normally sends to us. They are new costs that have 

arisen in this year that needs to be addressed, such as the extra costs of the field being used by 
the Castlewood High School for High School varsity and other divisions of such, practicing and 

playing there. Extra costs have been from more use of field conditioner than usual, bathroom 
supplies, extra wear and tear on the equipment, etc. We are going to be installing a new score 

board at the facility, and a real big problem is the necessity to conduct some major work on the 
drainage in the out fields and parking area where a water problem has existed for a long time. It 

is gradually getting worse each day. A new construction of tennis courts is going to cause us to 

have to rearrange parking in the complex, which also complicates the drainage problem. The 

facility is also In need of some repairs structurally and cosmetically which we hope to put in this 
coming fiscal year improvement plan. 

Steve Breeding
Highlight

Steve Breeding
Highlight




























































	Presentations.pdf
	Meeting: 6/5/23      6:00 PM
	Staff Recommendation:
	Suggested Motion:

	Authorization - Minutes BOS.pdf
	SUGGESTED MOTION(s):

	Authorization - Expenditures.pdf
	SUGGESTED MOTION(s):

	Reports1.pdf
	Meeting: 6/5/23         6:00 PM
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION(s):
	SUGGESTED MOTION(s):
	ATTACHMENTS:

	Reports1.pdf
	Meeting: 6/5/23         6:00 PM
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION(s):
	SUGGESTED MOTION(s):
	ATTACHMENTS:

	Reports1.pdf
	Meeting: 6/5/23         6:00 PM
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION(s):
	SUGGESTED MOTION(s):

	Reports1.pdf
	Meeting: 6/5/23         6:00 PM
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION(s):
	SUGGESTED MOTION(s):




